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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS
Investing in our shares of Common Stock involves numerous risks, including the risks described in “Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors”
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Below are some of our principal risks, any one of which could materially adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The impact of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) on general market and economic conditions has yet to be
determined and is likely to have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
We have had an extensive and profitable operating history, with the exception of 2019 and 2020, but it may be difficult to
accurately evaluate our future business and prospects.
Our management discovered a material weakness in our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting as required to be implemented by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
We may require substantial additional funding which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail
to raise the necessary additional capital, we may be unable to achieve growth of our operations.
A material reduction in the retail price of traditional utility generated electricity or electricity from other sources could
harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Existing electric utility industry regulations, and changes to regulations, may present technical, regulatory and
economic barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems that may significantly reduce demand for our solar
energy systems.
Our growth strategy depends on the widespread adoption of solar power technology.
Our business currently depends on the availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives. The expiration,
elimination or reduction of these rebates, credits and incentives would adversely impact our business.
Our business depends in part on the regulatory treatment of third-party owned solar energy systems.
Our ability to provide solar energy systems to customers on an economically viable basis depends on our ability to help
customers arrange financing for such systems.
We may not realize the anticipated benefits of future acquisitions, and integration of these acquisitions may disrupt our
business and management.
We may require additional financing to sustain our operations, without which we may not be able to continue
operations, and the terms of subsequent financings may adversely impact our stockholders.
The share price of our Common Stock is subject to fluctuation, has been and may continue to be volatile and may
decline regardless of our operating performance, resulting in substantial losses for investors who have purchased
shares of our Common Stock.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business.

Forward-looking Statements
Statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts constitute forward-looking statements. Examples of
forward-looking statements include statements relating to industry prospects, our future economic performance including anticipated
revenues and expenditures, results of operations or financial position, and other financial items, our business plans and objectives, and
may include certain assumptions that underlie forward-looking statements. Risks and uncertainties that may affect our future results, levels
of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements include, among other things, those
listed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report.
These risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to:
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●
●

the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business;
our limited operating history;
our ability to raise additional capital to meet our objectives;
our ability to compete in the solar power industry;
our ability to sell solar power systems;
our ability to arrange financing for our customers;
government incentive programs related to solar energy;
our ability to increase the size of our company and manage growth;
our ability to acquire and integrate other businesses;
disruptions to our supply chain from protective tariffs on imported components, supply shortages and/or fluctuations in pricing;
our ability or inability to attract and/or retain competent employees;
relationships with employees, consultants, customers, and suppliers; and
the concentration of our business in one industry in limited geographic areas;

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other comparable
terminology.
These statements are subject to business and economic risk and reflect management’s current expectations and involve subjects
that are inherently uncertain and difficult to predict. Actual events or results may differ materially. Moreover, neither we nor any other
person assumes responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of these statements. We are under no duty to update any of the forwardlooking statements after the date of this Annual Report to conform these statements to actual results.
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Business Introduction/Summary
We were originally formed on October 8, 2014 as a blank check company under the name Jensyn Acquisition Corp. for the purpose of
entering into a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization or other similar business
combination, with one or more businesses or entities. On June 20, 2019, we completed a business combination (the “Reverse Merger and
Recapitalization”) pursuant to which we acquired Peck Electric Co. (“Peck Electric”). The Business Combination was a reverse merger
treated as a recapitalization and that Peck Electric was deemed the accounting acquirer and takes over the historical information for the
Company. Following the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we became known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc. We conducted all
of our business operations exclusively through our wholly owned subsidiary, Peck Electric, until January 19, 2021.
On January 19, 2021, we completed a business combination (the “Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which we acquired iSun Energy LLC
(“iSun Energy, LLC”). The Business Combination was an acquisition treated as a merger and reorganization and that iSun Energy, LLC
became a wholly owned subsidiary of The Peck Company Holdings, Inc. Following the Merger Agreement, we changed our name to iSun,
Inc. (formerly The Peck Company Holdings, Inc,) We now conduct all of our business operations exclusively through our wholly owned
subsidiaries, Peck Electric and iSun Energy, LLC.
We are one of the largest commercial solar engineering, procurement and construction (“EPC”) companies in the country and are
expanding across the Northeastern United States. We were a second-generation family business founded under the name Peck Electric
Co. in 1972 as a traditional electrical contractor. Our core values were and still are to align people, purpose, and profitability, and since
taking leadership in 1994, Jeffrey Peck, our Chief Executive Officer, has applied such core values to expand into the solar industry.
Today, we are guided by the mission to facilitate the reduction of carbon emissions through the expansion of clean, renewable energy and
we believe that leveraging such core values to deploy resources toward profitable business is the only sustainable strategy to achieve
these objectives.
The world recognizes the need to transition to a reliable, renewable energy grid in the next 50 years. Vermont and Hawaii are leading the
way in the U.S. with renewable energy goals of 75% by 2032 and 100% by 2045, respectively. California committed to 100% carbon-free
energy by 2045. The majority of the other states in the U.S. also have renewable energy goals, regardless of current Federal solar policy.
We are a member of Renewable Energy Vermont, an organization that advocates for clean, practical and renewable solar energy. We
intend to use near-term incentives to take advantage of long-term, sustainable energy transformation with a commitment to the
environment and to our shareholders. Our triple bottom line, which is geared towards people, environment, and profit, has always been our
guide since we began installing renewable energy and we intend that it remain our guide over the next 50 years as we construct our
energy future.
We primarily provide EPC services to solar energy customers for projects ranging in size from several kilowatts for residential loads to
multi-megawatt systems for large commercial and utility projects. To date, we have installed over 125 megawatts of solar systems since
inception and are focused on profitable growth opportunities. We believe that we are well-positioned for what we believe to be the coming
transformation to an all renewable energy economy. As a result of the completion of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we have
now opened our family company to the public market as part of our strategic growth plan. We are expanding across the Northeastern
United States to serve the fast-growing demand for clean renewable energy. We are open to partnering with others to accelerate our
growth process, and we are expanding our portfolio of company-owned solar arrays to establish recurring revenue streams for many years
to come. We have established a leading presence in the market after five decades of successfully serving our customers, and we are now
ready for new opportunities and the next five decades of success.
We manage our business through our construction operations and offer our EPC services and products consisting of solar, electrical and
data installations. Approximately 80% of our revenue is derived from our solar EPC business, approximately 18% of revenue is derived
from our electrical and data business and approximately 2% of revenue is currently derived from recurring revenue of Company-owned
solar arrays. Recently our growth has been derived by increasing our solar customer base starting in 2013 and by continuing to serve the
needs of existing electrical and data customers. We have installed some of the largest commercial and utility-scale solar arrays in the
State of Vermont. Our union crews are expert constructors, and union access to an additional workforce makes us ready for rapid
expansion to other states while maintaining control of operating costs. The skillset provided by our workforce is transferrable among our
service offerings depending on current demand.
We also make investments in solar development projects and currently own approximately three megawatts of operating solar arrays
operating under long-term power purchase agreements. These long-term recurring revenue streams, combined with our in-house
development and construction capabilities, make this asset class a strategic long-term investment opportunity for us.
We have a three-pronged growth strategy that includes (1) organic expansion across the Northeastern United States, (2) conducting
accretive merger and acquisition transactions to expand geographically, and (3) investing into Company-owned solar assets.
5
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Consummation of the Business Combinations
On January 19, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the “Merger Agreement”) by and
among the Company, Peck Mercury, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger Sub”), iSun
Energy LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“iSun Energy, LLC”), the sole member of which was Sassoon M. Peress (“Peress”), and
Peress, pursuant to which the Merger Sub merged with and into iSun Energy LLC (the “Merger”) with iSun Energy LLC as the surviving
company in the Merger and iSun Energy LLC becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. In connection with Merger, Peress
will receive 400,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock over five years, 200,000 shares of which were issued at the closing,
warrants to purchase up 200,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, and up to 240,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock
based on certain performance milestones.
iSun Energy LLC offers products and services designed to support the growing electric vehicle and smart city markets. The flagship iSun
Energy & Mobility Hub is the result of 30 years of passion, dedication, and innovation through sustainability. The iSun solar EV carport
charging systems incorporate solar panels to charge electric vehicles while providing unparalleled software insights into data surrounding
the energy produced, consumed, air quality effects and other key metrics. The iSun Oasis Smart Solar Bench is expected to be an integral
part in developing smart cities and campuses and has the ability to charge any mobile device through integrated solar panels that collect
and store energy throughout the day. iSun’s accompanying data platform allows for monitoring and analysis of key metrics through built in
IoT (Internet of Things) sensors. The platform also affords both physical and digital advertising and branding, for additional recurring
revenue opportunities. iSun’s Augmented Reality 3D software platform helps clients visualize their projects before they are built, making it
easy for our clients to adopt sustainable solutions and to understand their impact on sustainability.
As disclosed on our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 26, 2019, on June 20, 2019 (the “Closing Date”), the
Company consummated the previously announced business combination (the “Reverse Merger and Recapitalization”) following a Special
Meeting of its Stockholders held on June 19, 2019 (the “Special Meeting”), where the stockholders of the Company considered and
approved, among other matters, a proposal to adopt that certain Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2019 (the
“Exchange Agreement”), by and among Jensyn, Peck Electric Co., a Vermont corporation (“Peck Electric”), and Peck Electric’s
stockholders (the “Stockholders”). “Jensyn” refers to the Company prior to the closing of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization (the
“Closing”). In connection with the Closing and pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, among other things, the Company changed its name
from “Jensyn Acquisition Corp.” to “The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.”
In connection with the Closing, Jensyn issued 3,234,501 shares of Jensyn’s Common Stock to the Stockholders in exchange for all of the
equity securities of Peck Electric, and Peck Electric became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The Company redeemed a total of 492,037 shares of its Common Stock pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Second Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation resulting in a total payment to redeeming stockholders of $5,510,814.
In connection with the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, the Company issued 493,299 shares of Common Stock in exchange for the
cancellation of approximately $5,618,675 of obligations and, as contemplated by the Exchange Agreement, certain insiders and their
transferees agreed to forfeit and cancel 281,758 shares of Common Stock.
6
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Upon the Closing and after giving effect to the issuances, redemptions and forfeitures of Common Stock described above, and the
conversion of 4,194,500 rights to purchase Common Stock into 419,450 shares of Common Stock, there were:
●

warrants exercisable for 2,097,250 shares of Common Stock, consisting of 3,900,000 warrants originally sold as part of units in the
Jensyn IPO and 294,500 warrants sold as part of the units issued in a private placement simultaneously with the consummation of
the Jensyn IPO. Each warrant entitled its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75
per half share ($11.50 per whole share).

●

Warrants exercisable for 195,000 shares of Common Stock, consisting of 390,000 warrants originally sold as part of Firm Units in
the IPO. Each warrant entitled its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per half
share ($11.50 per whole share).

●

Purchase option for 390,000 Units was originally sold as part of the IPO. Each Unit has an exercise price of $12.00 per Unit and
consists of the following:
●

One share of Common Stock

●

One right to receive one-tenth (1/10) of a share of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Unit

●

One warrant entitling its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per half
share ($11.50 per whole share).

Prior to the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we were a “shell company” (as such term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). As a result of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we have ceased to be a “shell company”
and have continued the existing business operations of the Company as a publicly traded company under the name “iSun, Inc.” (formerly
The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.). The business combination was a reverse merger treated as a recapitalization and that, Peck Electric
was deemed the accounting acquirer and took over the historical information for the Company.
Market Overview
We believe that a global energy transformation is occurring now as the world shifts from fossil fuels to clean renewable energy.
Technology is available with proven reliability and low enough cost to allow widespread adoption. Bloomberg New Energy Finance is a
leading provider of primary research on clean energy, advanced transport, digital industry, innovative materials, and commodities. Their
annual summit in New York in March 2019 included many discussions by leaders that corroborate the long-term growth opportunities
around the clean energy transformation well underway now and through 2050.
The solar industry is positioned for rapid growth. More than 80% of Peck Electric’s revenue mix is from solar array installations.
Industry reports forecast a sharp acceleration in solar installations through 2050, and the US Energy Information Association noted in its
2019 outlook that it expects solar energy production to reach 48% of the overall mix of renewable energy production by 2050, from just
13% in 2018. The drivers of this acceleration include the declining cost of solar array equipment, a heightened focus on clean renewable
energy production, and the consistent increase in demand of electric energy. We are uniquely positioned to benefit from this rapid
escalation in solar array installations, given our 47-year history as a full service electric contractor and our existing, highly scalable and
historically profitable solar installation business in Vermont.
7
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Strategically positioned geographically in the Northeastern United States. We have historically operated exclusively in Vermont,
which is one of the most attractive states for investment in solar arrays, with industry analysis suggesting over a 14% internal rate of return
(“IRR”) on solar investment in the state and an 8-year project payback. Almost the entirety of the Northeast region of the country is ranked
in the top 10 markets based on return metrics to the array owner, including the top 3 markets which include Massachusetts (1), New
Jersey (2), and Rhode Island (3), in addition to New York, which is the largest regional market and ranked 8th. By leveraging our existing
infrastructure and labor relationships with the IBEW, we are uniquely positioned to expand into these important addressable markets with
limited investment in additional infrastructure or capital equipment.
Our capabilities allow for expansion into high-growth adjacent markets . We hold a rich history as a business in operation in Vermont
for 47 years. We began operations as a traditional electric contractor and hold a wide range of capabilities to install electric equipment for
a variety of end uses. Today, these core capabilities have developed our business in solar array installation, traditional electric, and data
services. We can deploy these capabilities to other large, rapidly growing clean/renewable end markets; namely electric vehicle (“EV”)
charging stations and energy storage. The rapid proliferation of EV charging stations has followed the shift in auto sales to electronic
vehicles, and the EV charging market is expected to expand to over $30 billion by 2024 with a CAGR of 40% over the 5-year period.
Energy storage measured by megawatts expanded by 44% year-over-year in 2018 and is projected to grow into a $4.7 billion market by
2024. Both of these markets represent adjacent, high growth expansion opportunities for us, and both require minimal investment of
resources, infrastructure or capital spend given its complementary nature to our existing capabilities.
Strategy
Our strategic areas for growth include (1) organic growth by leveraging existing relationships to expand across the Northeast (2) accretive
mergers and acquisitions of profitable businesses to expand geographic footprint, capabilities, and cash flow, and (3) investment into solar
arrays that produce a steady stream of recurring revenue.
Organic growth from our existing customers will come from national developers requesting EPC services for project sizes ranging from the
residential to the utility scale. The ideal project size range for us is from 100 kilowatts to 10 megawatts, which is considered commercial to
small utility and is where the scale, margin, and risk are optimized. In addition, we can remain opportunistic for smaller residential projects
when marketing costs are minimized or for larger utility projects when margins can be preserved.
Accretive mergers and acquisitions activity is an important focus for us in order to accelerate revenue growth and cash flow. While
geographic expansion is prioritized for the Northeastern United States, prudent acquisitions in other geographies will also be considered
depending on the strategic fit and profitability characteristics.
The goal of solar array asset investments is long-term recurring revenue from the sale of power produced by the array asset. Our EPC
capabilities provide the Company with a unique investment opportunity in the renewable energy space because we can enter the solar
array value chain at any scale or stage. De-risked fully-operational solar arrays with reliable off-takers can be purchased by and operated
by us. We believe that, at this end-stage, an IRR may be achieved in the range of 9% to 13%. However, higher returns of up to 20% IRR
may be achieved with prudent investments in developed projects with permitting and off-takers that only require construction by the EPC.
Further, returns of 20% IRR or more may be achieved if we develop a project internally with a low-risk, long-term off-taker. We believe we
have the flexibility and capability to be opportunistic about prudent solar array asset investments at any stage.
8
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Employees
As of March 12, 2021, we employed approximately 150 full-time employees. We may also utilize outside subcontractors to assist with
installing solar systems for our commercial and residential customers. Our direct installation labor is a combination of employees and
contract labor.
We have direct access to unionized labor, which provides a unique advantage for growth, because workforce resources can be scaled
efficiently utilizing local labor unions in other states to meet specific project needs in other states without increasing fixed labor costs for
us.
Financing
To promote sales, we assist customers in obtaining financing options. Our objective is to arrange the most flexible terms that meet the
needs and wants of the customer. Although we do not directly provide financing, we have relationships to arrange financing with numerous
private and public sources, including the Vermont State Employees Credit Union, which offers VGreen financing to maximize solar
investment savings.
We believe it is best for customers to own their own systems, but some customers prefer not to own their systems. We also have the
ability to arrange financing with third parties through power purchase agreements and leases for our customers.
Suppliers
We purchase solar panels, inverters and materials directly from multiple manufacturers and through distributors. We intend to further
coordinate purchases and optimize supply relationships to realize the advantages of greater scale.
If one or more of our suppliers fail to meet our supply needs, ceases or reduces production due to its financial condition, acquisition by a
competitor or otherwise, it may be difficult to quickly identify alternate suppliers or to qualify alternative products on commercially
reasonable terms, and our ability to satisfy this demand may be adversely affected. We do not, however, rely on any single supplier and
our management believes that we can obtain needed solar panels and materials from a number of different suppliers. Accordingly, we
believe that the loss of any single supplier would not materially affect our business.
We also utilize strategic companies with subcontractors for electrical installations, for racking and solar panel installations, as well as
numerous subcontractors for grading, landscaping, and construction for our commercial, and industrial customers.
Installation
We are a licensed contractor in the markets that we serve, and we are responsible for every customer installation. We manage the entire
process from permitting through inspection to interconnection to the power grid, thereby making the system installation process simple and
seamless for its customers. Controlling every aspect of the installation process allows us to minimize costs, ensure quality and deliver high
levels of customer satisfaction.
Even with controlling every aspect of the installation process, the ability to perform on a contract is subject to limitations. There remain
jurisdictional approval processes outside our immediate control including, but not limited to, approvals of city, county, state or Federal
government bodies or one of their respective agencies. Other aspects outside of our direct control include approvals from various utility
companies and weather conditions.
After-Sales Support
It is our intent to provide continuing operation and maintenance services for our installed residential and commercial solar systems. We
provide extended factory equipment technical support and act as a service liaison using our proprietary knowledge, technology, and solar
electric energy engineering staff. We do this through a 5-year limited workmanship warranty and operations and maintenance program,
which among other things, provides a service and technical support line to our customers. We generally respond to our job site related
issues within 24 hours and offer assistance as long as required to maintain customer satisfaction. Our price to customers includes this
warranty, and also includes the pass through of various manufacturers’ warranties that are typically up to 25 years.
9
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Customers
Currently, the majority of our revenue comes from commercial and small utility solar installations ranging in size from 100 kilowatts to 10
megawatts. We have experience that this size of project optimizes margin scale, and risk. Opportunistically, we also install residential
scale projects (8 kilowatts to 20 kilowatts) when marketing costs are minimal or not required. Large utility scale projects over 10 megawatts
can also be opportunistically selected when margins can be preserved.
Approximately 83% of our sales in 2020 were in commercial and small utility solar projects. Approximately 0.5% of revenues were
generated by residential installations in 2020. In 2019, approximately 77% of our sales were in commercial and small utility solar projects,
while approximately 3% of revenues came from residential solar. We expect that these percentages will vary from year to year.
We believe that we have an advantage in the commercial solar market in Vermont given our extensive contact list, resulting from our
experience in the commercial and industrial construction market, which also provides access to customers that trust us. Through our
network of vendors, participation in variety of industry trade associations and independent sales consultants, we now have a growing list of
repeat clients, as well as an active and loyal referral network.
Competitors
In the solar installation market, we compete with companies that offer products similar to our products. Some of these companies have
greater financial resources, operational experience, and technical capabilities than we do. When bidding for solar installation projects,
however, our current experience suggests that we are the dominant or preferred competitor in the markets in which we compete. We do
not believe that any competitor has more than 10% of the market across all the areas in which we currently operate. We compete with
other solar installers on our expertise and proven track record of performance. Also, pricing, service and the ability to arrange financing
may be important for a project award.
Seasonality
We often find that some customers tend to book projects by the end of a calendar year to realize the benefits of available subsidy
programs prior to year-end. This results in third and fourth quarter sales being more robust usually at the expense of the first quarter. In
the future, this seasonality may cause fluctuations in financial results. In addition, other seasonality trends may develop and the existing
seasonality that we experience may change. Weather can also be an important factor affecting project timelines.
Technology and Intellectual Property
Generally, the solar EPC business is not dependent on intellectual property.
Government Regulation and Incentives
Government Regulation
We are not regulated as a public utility in the United States under applicable national, state or other local regulatory regimes where we
conducts business.
To operate our systems, we obtain interconnection permission from the applicable local primary electric utility. Depending on the size of
the solar energy system and local law requirements, interconnection permission is provided by the local utility and we and/or our customer.
In almost all cases, interconnection permissions are issued on the basis of a standard process that has been pre-approved by the local
public utility commission or other regulatory body with jurisdiction over net metering procedures. As such, no additional regulatory
approvals are required once interconnection permission is given.
Our operations are subject to stringent and complex federal, state and local laws, including regulations governing the occupational health
and safety of our employees and wage regulations. For example, we are subject to the requirements of OSHA, the DOT and comparable
state laws that protect and regulate employee health and safety.
10
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Government Incentives
Federal, state and local government bodies provide incentives to owners, end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of
solar energy systems to promote solar energy in the form of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives such as system
performance payments, payments for renewable energy credits associated with renewable energy generation and exclusion of solar
energy systems from property tax assessments. These incentives enable Peck Electric to lower the price it charges customers to own or
lease, our solar energy systems, helping to catalyze customer acceptance of solar energy as an alternative to utility-provided power.
The federal government currently offers a 26% investment tax credit (“ITC”) under Section 48(a) of the Internal Revenue Code for the
installation of certain solar power facilities until December 31, 2022, after which it will fall to 22% in 2023 and 10% in 2024.
The economics of purchasing a solar energy system are also improved by eligibility for accelerated depreciation, also known as the
modified accelerated cost recovery system, or MACRS, depreciation, which allows for the depreciation of equipment according to an
accelerated schedule set forth by the Internal Revenue Service. The acceleration of depreciation creates a valuable tax benefit that
reduces the overall cost of the solar energy system and increases the return on investment.
Approximately 50% of states in the U.S. offer a personal and/or corporate investment or production tax credit for solar energy that is
additive to the ITC. Further, these states, and many local jurisdictions, have established property tax incentives for renewable energy
systems that include exemptions, exclusions, abatements, and credits. Many state governments, traditional utilities, municipal utilities and
co-operative utilities offer a rebate or other cash incentive for the installation and operation of a solar energy system or energy efficiency
measures. Capital costs or “up-front” rebates provide funds to solar customers based on the cost, size or expected production of a
customer’s solar energy system. Performance-based incentives provide cash payments to a solar energy system owner based on the
energy generated by their solar energy system during a pre-determined period, and they are paid over that time period. Depending on the
cost of the system and other site-specific variables, tax incentives can typically cover 30-40% of the cost of a commercial or residential
solar system.
Many states also have adopted procurement requirements for renewable energy production that requires regulated utilities to procure a
specified percentage of total electricity delivered to customers in the State from eligible renewable energy sources, such as solar energy
systems, by a specified date.
Corporate Information
Our address is 400 Avenue D, Suite 10, Williston, VT 05495 and our telephone number is (802) 658-3378. Our corporate website is:
www.isunenergy.com. The content of our website shall not be deemed incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
An investment in our Common Stock involves significant risks. You should carefully consider the risk factors contained in this Annual
Report and in our filings with the SEC before you decide to invest in our Common Stock. Our business, prospects, financial condition and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected as a result of any of such risks. The value of our Common Stock could
decline as a result of any of these risks. You could lose all or part of your investment in our Common Stock. Some of our statements in
sections entitled “Risk Factors” are forward-looking statements. The risks and uncertainties we have described are not the only ones we
face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also affect our business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations.
The impact of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) on general market and economic conditions has yet to be determined and is
likely to have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) has resulted in widespread disruption to capital
markets and general economic and business climate. It is too early for us to predict the long-term effects of this health crisis. In December
2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported to have surfaced in Wuhan, China. On March 16, 2020, in response to
intensifying efforts to contain the spread of COVID-19, we temporarily limited access to headquarters and began implementing remote
work environments for our employees. On March 25, 2020, we closed our headquarters and advised all employees to work remotely until
more guidance is provided. On August 1, 2020, we reopened our headquarters on a limited basis with the proper workplace safety
protocols in place while allowing all employees to continue remote work at their discretion. We continue to monitor the outbreak of COVID19 to help ensure the health and safety of our associates and our customers. We are also continuing to communicate with our suppliers
regarding the flow of product and potential temporary effects on our supply chain. On March 12, 2021, Governor Phil Scott extended
Vermont’s State of Emergency and all existing mitigation orders and closures until April 15, 2021. Given the dynamic nature of these
circumstances, the duration of business disruption and the related financial affect cannot be reasonably estimated at this time. We
continue to provide service and maintenance in support of critical infrastructure including utilities and telecommunications. The extent to
which COVID-19 affects our results, or those of our suppliers, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot
be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19 and the actions and related costs to
contain or treat it, among others.
Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Capital Requirements
We have had an extensive and profitable operating history, with the exception of 2019 and 2020, but it may be difficult to
accurately evaluate our future business and prospects.
Although we were founded in 1972, we did not begin selling solar systems until 2013 when our management believed that solar asset
investment was profitable. Our management believes that our success will depend in large part on our ability to continue to successfully
sell solar systems in the Northeast and in other states against determined competition, and to consummate synergistic acquisitions. No
assurance can be given that we will operate profitably or that we will have adequate working capital to meet our obligations as they
become due.
Our management discovered a material weakness in our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial
reporting as required to be implemented by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
We are currently subject to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and are required to provide management’s attestation on
internal controls. Our management has identified control deficiencies and the need for a stronger internal controls environment relating to
revenue activities. The ineffectiveness of the design, implementation and operation of the controls surrounding these matters creates a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement to the consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Accordingly, our management concluded that this deficiency represents a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. Although our management has taken significant steps to remediate this weakness, our
management can give no assurance yet that all the measures it has taken will on a permanent and sustainable basis remediate the
material weaknesses in our disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting or that any other material
weaknesses or restatements of financial results will not arise in the future. We plan to take steps to remedy this material weakness. If we
are not able to implement the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in the future, we will not be able to assess
whether our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, which may subject us to adverse regulatory consequences and could
harm investor confidence and the market price of our Common Stock.
We may require substantial additional funding which may not be available to it on acceptable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise
the necessary additional capital, we may be unable to achieve growth of our operations.
The Company was not profitable in 2019 and 2020. In order to grow our operations, we may increase our spending to fund our operating
expenses and capital expenditures.
We cannot be certain that additional funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to raise additional capital in
sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue our organic growth or
corporate acquisitions. Any of these events could significantly harm our business, financial condition, and strategy.
In order to carry out our business plan and implement our strategy, we anticipate that we will need to obtain additional financing from time
to time, and we may choose to raise additional funds through strategic collaborations, public or private equity or debt financing, bank lines
of credit, asset sales, government grants, or other arrangements. Our management cannot be sure that any additional funding, if needed,
will be available on favorable terms or at all. Furthermore, any additional equity or equity-related financing obtained may be dilutive to our
stockholders, and debt or equity financing, if available, may subject us to restrictive covenants and significant interest costs.
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An inability to raise capital when needed could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations, and could cause our stock
price to decline or require that it cease operations.
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
A material reduction in the retail price of traditional utility generated electricity or electricity from other sources could harm our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
Our management believes that a significant number of our customers decide to buy solar energy because they want to pay less for
electricity than what is offered by the traditional utilities.
The customer’s decision to choose solar energy may also be affected by the cost of other renewable energy sources. Decreases in the
retail prices of electricity from the traditional utilities or from other renewable energy sources would harm our ability to offer competitive
pricing and could harm our business. The price of electricity from traditional utilities could decrease as a result of:
●

construction of a significant number of new power generation plants, including plants utilizing natural gas, nuclear, coal, renewable
energy or other generation technologies;

●

relief of transmission constraints that enable local centers to generate energy less expensively;

●

reductions in the price of natural gas;

●

utility rate adjustment and customer class cost reallocation;

●

energy conservation technologies and public initiatives to reduce electricity consumption;

●

development of new or lower-cost energy storage technologies that have the ability to reduce a customer’s average cost of electricity
by shifting load to off-peak times; or

●

development of new energy generation technologies that provide less expensive energy.

A reduction in utility electricity prices would make the purchase or the lease of our solar energy systems less economically attractive. If the
retail price of energy available from traditional utilities were to decrease due to any of these reasons, or other reasons, we would be at a
competitive disadvantage, may be unable to attract new customers and our growth would be limited.
Existing electric utility industry regulations, and changes to regulations, may present technical, regulatory and economic
barriers to the purchase and use of solar energy systems that may significantly reduce demand for our solar energy systems.
Federal, state and local government regulations and policies concerning the electric utility industry, and internal policies and regulations
promulgated by electric utilities, heavily influence the market for electricity generation products and services. These regulations and
policies often relate to electricity pricing and the interconnection of customer-owned electricity generation. In the United States,
governments and utilities continuously modify these regulations and policies. These regulations and policies could deter customers from
purchasing renewable energy, including solar energy systems. This could result in a significant reduction in the potential demand for our
solar energy systems. For example, utilities commonly charge fees to larger, industrial customers for disconnecting from the electric grid
or for having the capacity to use power from the electric grid for back-up purposes. These fees could increase our customers’ cost to use
our systems and make them less desirable, thereby harming our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, depending on the region, electricity generated by solar energy systems competes most effectively with expensive peak-hour
electricity from the electric grid, rather than the less expensive average price of electricity. Modifications to the utilities’ peak hour pricing
policies or rate design, such as to a flat rate, would require us to lower the price of our solar energy systems to compete with the price of
electricity from the electric grid.
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In addition, any changes to government or internal utility regulations and policies that favor electric utilities could reduce our
competitiveness and cause a significant reduction in demand for our products and services. For example, certain jurisdictions have
proposed assessing fees on customers purchasing energy from solar energy systems or imposing a new charge that would
disproportionately impact solar energy system customers who utilize net metering, either of which would increase the cost of energy to
those customers and could reduce demand for our solar energy systems. It is possible charges could be imposed on not just future
customers but our existing customers, causing a potentially significant consumer relations problem and harming our reputation and
business. Due to the current concentration of our business in Vermont, any such changes in these markets would be particularly harmful
to our business, results of operations, and future growth.
Our growth strategy depends on the widespread adoption of solar power technology.
The market for solar power products is emerging and rapidly evolving, and our future success is uncertain. If solar power technology
proves unsuitable for widespread commercial deployment or if demand for solar power products fails to develop sufficiently, we would be
unable to generate enough revenues to achieve and sustain profitability and positive cash flow. The factors influencing the widespread
adoption of solar power technology include but are not limited to:
●

cost-effectiveness of solar power technologies as compared with conventional and non-solar alternative energy technologies;

●

performance and reliability of solar power products as compared with conventional and non-solar alternative energy products;

●

fluctuations in economic and market conditions which impact the viability of conventional and non-solar alternative energy sources,
such as increases or decreases in the prices of oil and other fossil fuels;

●

continued deregulation of the electric power industry and broader energy industry; and

●

availability of governmental subsidies and incentives.

Our business currently depends on the availability of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives. The expiration,
elimination or reduction of these rebates, credits and incentives would adversely impact our business.
U.S. federal, state and local government bodies provide incentives to end users, distributors, system integrators and manufacturers of
solar energy systems to promote solar electricity in the form of rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives such as system
performance payments and payments for renewable energy credits associated with renewable energy generation. These governmental
rebates, tax credits and other financial incentives enhance the return on investment for our customers and incent them to purchase solar
systems. These incentives enables us to lower the price that we charge customers for energy and for solar energy systems. However,
these incentives may expire on a particular date, end when the allocated funding is exhausted, or be reduced or terminated as solar
energy adoption rates increase. These reductions or terminations often occur without warning.
Reductions in, or eliminations or expirations of, governmental incentives could adversely impact our results of operations and our ability to
compete in our industry, causing us to increase the prices of our solar energy systems, and reducing the size of our addressable market. In
addition, this would adversely impact our ability to attract investment partners and to form new financing funds and our ability to offer
attractive financing to prospective customers.
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Our business depends in part on the regulatory treatment of third-party owned solar energy systems.
Our leases and any power purchase agreements are third-party ownership arrangements. Sales of electricity by third parties face
regulatory challenges in some states and jurisdictions. Other challenges pertain to whether third-party owned systems qualify for the same
levels of rebates or other non-tax incentives available for customer-owned solar energy systems, whether third-party owned systems are
eligible at all for these incentives, and whether third-party owned systems are eligible for net metering and the associated significant cost
savings. Reductions in, or eliminations of, this treatment of these third-party arrangements could reduce demand for our systems,
adversely impact our access to capital and could cause us to increase the price that we charge our customers for energy.
Our ability to provide solar energy systems to customers on an economically viable basis depends on our ability to help
customers arrange financing for such systems.
Our solar energy systems have been eligible for federal investment tax credits or U.S. Treasury grants, as well as depreciation benefits.
We have relied on, and will continue to rely on, financing structures that monetize a substantial portion of those benefits and provide
financing for our solar energy systems. With the lapse of the U.S. Treasury grant program, we anticipate that our customers’ reliance on
these tax-advantaged financing structures will increase substantially. If, for any reason, our customers were unable to continue to
monetize those benefits through these arrangements, we may be unable to provide and maintain solar energy systems for new customers
on an economically viable basis.
The availability of this tax-advantaged financing depends upon many factors, including, but not limited to:
●

the state of financial and credit markets;

●

changes in the legal or tax risks associated with these financings; and

●

non-renewal of these incentives or decreases in the associated benefits.

U.S. Treasury grants are no longer available for new solar energy systems. Changes in existing law and interpretations by the Internal
Revenue Service and the courts could reduce the willingness of funding sources to provide funds to customers of these solar energy
systems. We cannot assure you that this type of financing will be available to our customers. If, for any reason, we are unable to find
financing for solar energy systems, we may no longer be able to provide solar energy systems to new customers on an economically
viable basis. This would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Rising interest rates could adversely impact our business.
Increases in interest rates could have an adverse impact on our business by increasing our cost of capital, which would increase our
interest expense and make acquisitions more expensive to undertake.
Further, rising interest rates may negatively impact our ability to arrange financing for our customers on favorable terms to facilitate our
customers’ purchases of our solar energy systems. The majority of our cash flows to date have been from the sales of solar energy
systems. Rising interest rates may have the effect of depressing the sales of solar energy systems because many consumers finance their
purchases.
As a result, an increase in interest rates may negatively affect our costs and reduce our revenues, which would have an adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
If we cannot compete successfully against other solar and energy companies, we may not be successful in developing our
operations and our business may suffer.
The solar and energy industries are characterized by intense competition and rapid technological advances, both in the United States and
internationally. We compete with solar companies with business models that are similar to ours. In addition, we compete with solar
companies in the downstream value chain of solar energy. For example, we face competition from purely finance driven organizations that
acquire customers and then subcontract out the installation of solar energy systems, from installation businesses that seek financing from
external parties, from large construction companies and utilities, and increasingly from sophisticated electrical and roofing companies.
Some of these competitors specialize in the residential solar energy market, and some may provide energy at lower costs than we do.
Further, some competitors are integrating vertically in order to ensure supply and to control costs. Many of our competitors also have
significant brand name recognition and have extensive knowledge of our target markets.
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If we are unable to compete in the market, we will have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Adverse economic conditions may have material adverse consequences on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
Unpredictable and unstable changes in economic conditions, including recession, inflation, increased government intervention, or other
changes, may adversely affect our general business strategy. We rely upon our ability to generate additional sources of liquidity and we
may need to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity financings in order to fund existing operations or to take
advantage of opportunities, including acquisitions of complementary businesses or technologies. Any adverse event would have a
material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our business is concentrated in certain markets, putting it at risk of region-specific disruptions.
As of December 31, 2020, a vast majority of our total installations were in New England. Our management expects our near-term future
growth to occur throughout the Northeastern United States, and to further expand our customer base and operational infrastructure.
Accordingly, our business and results of operations are particularly susceptible to adverse economic, regulatory, political, weather and
other conditions in such markets and in other markets that may become similarly concentrated.
If we are unable to retain and recruit qualified technicians and advisors, or if our key executives, key employees or consultants
discontinue their employment or consulting relationship with us, we may delay our development efforts or otherwise harm our
business.
We may not be able to attract or retain qualified management or technical personnel in the future due to the intense competition for
qualified personnel among solar, energy, and other businesses. Our industry has experienced a high rate of turnover of management
personnel in recent years. If we are not able to attract, retain, and motivate necessary personnel to accomplish our business objectives,
we may experience constraints that will significantly impede the successful development of any product candidates, our ability to raise
additional capital, and our ability to implement our overall business strategy.
We are highly dependent on members of our management and technical staff. Our success also depends on our ability to continue to
attract, retain and motivate highly skilled junior, mid-level, and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level, and senior technical
personnel. The loss of any of our executive officers, key employees, or consultants and our inability to find suitable replacements could
potentially harm our business, financial condition, and prospects. We may be unable to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms
given the competition among solar and energy companies. Certain of our current officers, directors, and/or consultants hereafter appointed
may from time to time serve as officers, directors, scientific advisors, and/or consultants of other solar and energy companies. We do not
maintain “key man” insurance policies on any of our officers or employees. Other than certain members of our senior management team,
all of our employees are employed “at will” and, therefore, each employee may leave our employment and join a competitor at any time.
We plan to grant stock options, restricted stock grants, or other forms of equity awards in the future as a method of attracting and retaining
employees, motivating performance, and aligning the interests of employees with those of our stockholders. If we are unable to implement
and maintain equity compensation arrangements that provide sufficient incentives, we may be unable to retain our existing employees and
attract additional qualified candidates. If we are unable to retain our existing employees and attract additional qualified candidates, our
business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
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The execution of our business plan and development strategy may be seriously harmed if integration of our senior management
team is not successful.
As our business continues to grow and in the event that we acquire new businesses, we may experience significant changes in our senior
management team. Failure to integrate our Board of Directors and senior management teams may negatively affect the operations of our
business.
We may not successfully implement our business model.
Our business model is predicated on our ability to build and sell solar systems at a profit, and through organic growth, geographic
expansion and strategic acquisitions. Our management intends to continue to operate our business as it has previously, with sourcing and
marketing methods that we have used successfully in the past. However, our management cannot assure you that our methods will
continue to attract new customers nor that we can maintain profitability in the very competitive solar systems marketplace.
We may not be able to effectively manage our growth.
Our future growth, if any, may cause a significant strain on our management and our operational, financial, and other resources. Our ability
to manage our growth effectively will require us to implement and improve our operational, financial, and management systems and to
expand, train, manage, and motivate our employees. These demands may require the hiring of additional management personnel and the
development of additional expertise by our management. Any increase in resources used without a corresponding increase in our
operational, financial, and management systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
We may not realize the anticipated benefits of future acquisitions, and integration of these acquisitions may disrupt our
business and management.
In the future, we may acquire companies, project pipelines, products or technologies or enter into joint ventures or other strategic
initiatives. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of this acquisition or any other future acquisition, and any acquisition has numerous
risks. These risks include the following:
●

difficulty in assimilating the operations and personnel of the acquired company;

●

difficulty in effectively integrating the acquired technologies or products with our current technologies;

●

difficulty in maintaining controls, procedures and policies during the transition and integration;

●

disruption of our ongoing business and distraction of management and employees from other opportunities and challenges due to
integration issues;

●

difficulty integrating the acquired company’s accounting, management information, and other administrative systems;

●

inability to retain key technical and managerial personnel of the acquired business;

●

inability to retain key customers, vendors, and other business partners of the acquired business;

●

inability to achieve the financial and strategic goals for the acquired and combined businesses;

●

incurring acquisition-related costs or amortization costs for acquired intangible assets that could impact operating results;

●

potential failure of the due diligence processes to identify significant issues with product quality, legal and financial liabilities, among
other things;
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●

potential inability to assert that internal controls over financial reporting are effective; and

●

potential inability to obtain, or obtain in a timely manner, approvals from governmental authorities, which could delay or prevent such
acquisitions.

Mergers and acquisitions of companies are inherently risky and, if we do not complete the integration of acquired businesses successfully
and in a timely manner, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions to the extent anticipated, which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
With respect to providing electricity on a price-competitive basis, solar systems face competition from traditional regulated
electric utilities, from less-regulated third party energy service providers and from new renewable energy companies.
The solar energy and renewable energy industries are both highly competitive and continually evolving as participants strive to distinguish
themselves within their markets and compete with large traditional utilities. We believe that our primary competitors are the traditional
utilities that supply electricity to our potential customers. Traditional utilities generally have substantially greater financial, technical,
operational and other resources than we do. As a result, these competitors may be able to devote more resources to the research,
development, promotion, and sale of their products or respond more quickly to evolving industry standards and changes in market
conditions than we can. Traditional utilities could also offer other value-added products or services that could help them to compete with us
even if the cost of electricity they offer is higher than that of ours. In addition, a majority of utilities’ sources of electricity is non-solar, which
may allow utilities to sell electricity more cheaply than electricity generated by our solar energy systems.
We also compete with companies that are not regulated like traditional utilities, but that have access to the traditional utility electricity
transmission and distribution infrastructure pursuant to state and local pro-competitive and consumer choice policies. These energy
service companies are able to offer customers electricity supply-only solutions that are competitive with our solar energy system options on
both price and usage of renewable energy technology while avoiding the long-term agreements and physical installations that our current
fund-financed business model requires. This may limit our ability to attract new customers; particularly those who wish to avoid long-term
contracts or have an aesthetic or other objection to putting solar panels on their roofs.
As the solar industry grows and evolves, we will also face new competitors who are not currently in the market. Low technological barriers
to entry characterize our industry and well-capitalized companies could choose to enter the market and compete with it. Our failure to
adapt to changing market conditions and to compete successfully with existing or new competitors will limit our growth and will have a
material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
Developments in alternative technologies or improvements in distributed solar energy generation may materially adversely
affect demand for our offerings.
Significant developments in alternative technologies, such as advances in other forms of distributed solar power generation, storage
solutions such as batteries, the widespread use or adoption of fuel cells for residential or commercial properties or improvements in other
forms of centralized power production may materially and adversely affect our business and prospects in ways management does not
currently anticipate. Any failure by us to adopt new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to changes in existing technologies,
could materially delay deployment of our solar energy systems, which could result in product obsolescence, the loss of competitiveness of
our systems, decreased revenue and a loss of market share to competitors.
Due to the limited number of suppliers in our industry, the acquisition of any of these suppliers by a competitor or any shortage,
delay, price change, imposition of tariffs or duties or other limitation in our ability to obtain components or technologies that we
use could result in sales and installation delays, cancellations, and loss of market share.
While we purchase our products from several different suppliers, if one or more of the suppliers on which we rely to meet anticipated
demand ceases or reduces production due to its financial condition, is acquired by a competitor or otherwise is unable to increase
production as industry demand increases, or is otherwise unable to allocate sufficient production to us, it may be difficult for us to quickly
identify alternate suppliers or to qualify alternative products on commercially reasonable terms, and our ability to satisfy this demand may
be adversely affected. There are a limited number of suppliers of solar energy system components and technologies. While we believe
there are other sources of supply for these products available, transitioning to a new supplier may result in additional costs and delays in
acquiring our solar products and deploying our systems. These issues could harm our business or financial performance.
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In addition, the acquisition of a component supplier or technology provider by one of our competitors could limit our access to such
components or technologies and require significant redesigns of our solar energy systems or installation procedures and have a material
adverse effect on our business.
There have also been periods of industry-wide shortages of key components, including solar panels, in times of industry disruption. The
manufacturing infrastructure for some of these components has a long lead-time, requires significant capital investment and relies on the
continued availability of key commodity materials, potentially resulting in an inability to meet demand for these components. The solar
industry is frequently experiencing significant disruption and, as a result, shortages of key components, including solar panels, may be
more likely to occur, which in turn may result in price increases for such components. Even if industry-wide shortages do not occur,
suppliers may decide to allocate key components with high demand or insufficient production capacity to more profitable customers,
customers with long-term supply agreements or customers other than us and our supply of such components may be reduced as a result.
Typically, we purchase the components for our solar energy systems on an as-needed basis and do not operate under long-term supply
agreements. The vast majority of our purchases are denominated in U.S. dollars. Since our revenue is also generated in U.S. dollars, we
are mostly insulated from currency fluctuations. However, since our suppliers often incur a significant amount of their costs by purchasing
raw materials and generating operating expenses in foreign currencies, if the value of the U.S. dollar depreciates significantly or for a
prolonged period of time against these other currencies, this may cause our suppliers to raise the prices they charge us, which could harm
our financial results. Since we purchase most of the solar photovoltaic modules that we use from China, we are particularly exposed to
exchange rate risk from increases in the value of the Chinese Renminbi. Any supply shortages, delays, price changes or other limitation in
our ability to obtain components or technologies that we use could limit our growth, cause cancellations or adversely affect our profitability,
and result in loss of market share and damage to our brand.
We act as the licensed general contractor for our customers and are subject to risks associated with construction, cost
overruns, delays, regulatory compliance and other contingencies, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.
We are a licensed contractor and we are normally the general contractor, electrician, construction manager, and installer for our solar
energy systems. We may be liable to customers for any damage that we cause to the home, belongings or property of our customers
during the installation of our systems. For example, we penetrate our customers’ roofs during the installation process and may incur liability
for the failure to adequately weatherproof such penetrations following the completion of installation of solar energy systems. In addition,
because the solar energy systems that we deploy are high-voltage energy systems, we may incur liability for the failure to comply with
electrical standards and manufacturer recommendations. Because our profit on a particular installation is based in part on assumptions as
to the cost of such project, cost overruns, delays, or other execution issues may cause us to not achieve our expected results or cover our
costs for that project.
In addition, the installation of solar energy systems is subject to oversight and regulation in accordance with national, state, and local laws
and ordinances relating to building, fire and electrical codes, safety, environmental protection, utility interconnection and metering, and
related matters. We also rely on certain employees to maintain professional licenses in many of the jurisdictions in which we operate, and
our failure to employ properly licensed personnel could adversely affect our licensing status in those jurisdictions. It is difficult and costly to
track the requirements of every authority having jurisdiction over our operations and our solar energy systems. Any new government
regulations or utility policies pertaining to our systems, or changes to existing government regulations or utility policies pertaining to our
systems, may result in significant additional expenses to our customers and, as a result, could cause a significant reduction in demand for
our systems.
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If we experience a significant disruption in our information technology systems or if we fail to implement new systems and
software successfully, our business could be adversely affected.
We depend on information systems throughout our company to process orders, manage inventory, process and bill shipments and collect
cash from our customers, respond to customer inquiries, contribute to our overall internal control processes, maintain records of our
property, plant and equipment, and record and pay amounts due vendors and other creditors. If we were to experience a prolonged
disruption in our information systems that involve interactions with customers and suppliers, it could result in the loss of sales and
customers and/or increased costs, which could adversely affect our overall business operation.
Compliance with occupational safety and health requirements and best practices can be costly, and noncompliance with such
requirements may result in potentially significant monetary penalties, operational delays, and adverse publicity.
The installation of solar energy systems requires our employees to work at heights with complicated and potentially dangerous electrical
systems. The evaluation and modification of buildings as part of the installation process requires our employees to work in locations that
may contain potentially dangerous levels of asbestos, lead, mold or other materials known or believed to be hazardous to human health.
We also maintain a fleet of trucks and other vehicles to support our installers and operations. There is substantial risk of serious injury or
death if proper safety procedures are not followed. Our operations are subject to regulation under the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health
Act (“OSHA”), the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”), and equivalent state laws. Changes to OSHA or DOT requirements, or
stricter interpretation or enforcement of existing laws or regulations, could result in increased costs. If we fail to comply with applicable
OSHA regulations, even if no work-related serious injury or death occurs, we may be subject to civil or criminal enforcement and be
required to pay substantial penalties, incur significant capital expenditures or suspend or limit operations. While we have not experienced
a high level of injuries to date, high injury rates could expose us to increased liability. In the past, we have had workplace accidents and
received citations from OSHA regulators for alleged safety violations, resulting in fines. Any such accidents, citations, violations, injuries or
failure to comply with industry best practices may subject us to adverse publicity, damage our reputation and competitive position and
adversely affect our business.
Problems with product quality or performance may cause us to incur warranty expenses, damage our market reputation, and
prevent us from maintaining or increasing our market share.
If our products fail to perform as expected while under warranty, or if we are unable to support the warranties, sales of our products may be
adversely affected, or our costs may increase, and our business, results of operations, and financial condition could be materially and
adversely affected.
We may also be subject to warranty or product liability claims against us that are not covered by insurance or are in excess of our available
insurance limits. In addition, quality issues can have various other ramifications, including delays in the recognition of revenue, loss of
revenue, loss of future sales opportunities, increased costs associated with repairing or replacing products, and a negative impact on our
goodwill and reputation. The possibility of future product failures could cause us to incur substantial expenses to repair or replace
defective products. Furthermore, widespread product failures may damage our market reputation and reduce our market share causing
sales to decline.
Seasonality may cause fluctuations in our financial results.
We often find that some customers tend to book projects by the end of a calendar year to realize the benefits of available subsidy
programs prior to year-end. This results in third and fourth quarter sales being more robust usually at the expense of the first quarter. In
the future, this seasonality may cause fluctuations in financial results. In addition, other seasonality trends may develop and the existing
seasonality that we experience may change. Weather can also be an important factor affecting project timelines.
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A failure to comply with laws and regulations relating to our interactions with current or prospective commercial or residential
customers could result in negative publicity, claims, investigations, and litigation, and adversely affect our financial
performance.
Our business includes contracts and transactions with commercial and residential customers. We must comply with numerous federal,
state, and local laws and regulations that govern matters relating to our interactions with residential consumers, including those pertaining
to privacy and data security, consumer financial and credit transactions, home improvement contracts, warranties, and door-to-door
solicitation. These laws and regulations are dynamic and subject to potentially differing interpretations, and various federal, state and local
legislative and regulatory bodies may expand current laws or regulations, or enact new laws and regulations, regarding these matters.
Changes in these laws or regulations or their interpretation could dramatically affect how we do business, acquire customers, and manage
and use information that we collect from and about current and prospective customers and the costs associated therewith. We strive to
comply with all applicable laws and regulations relating to our interactions with residential customers. It is possible, however, that these
requirements may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another and may conflict with other
rules or our practices. Non-compliance with any such law or regulations could also expose us to claims, proceedings, litigation and
investigations by private parties and regulatory authorities, as well as substantial fines and negative publicity, each of which may materially
and adversely affect our business.
Changes in laws or regulations, or a failure to comply with any laws and regulations, may adversely affect our business,
investments and results of operations.
We are subject to laws and regulations enacted by national, regional and local governments, including non-U.S. governments. In
particular, we are required to comply with certain SEC and other legal requirements. Compliance with, and monitoring of, applicable laws
and regulations may be difficult, time consuming and costly. Those laws and regulations and their interpretation and application may also
change from time to time and those changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, investments and results of operations.
In addition, a failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations, as interpreted and applied, could have a material adverse effect on our
business and results of operations.
Risks Related to the Regulation of Our Company
Because we were previously considered to be a “shell company” under applicable securities laws and regulations, investors
may not be able to rely on the resale exemption provided by Rule 144 of the Securities Act until certain requirements have been
satisfied. As a result, investors may not be able to easily re-sell our securities and could lose their entire investment.
Prior to the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we were considered to be a “shell company” under Rule 405 of Regulation C of the
Securities Act. A “shell company” is a company with either no or nominal operations or assets, or assets consisting solely of cash and cash
equivalents. In order to rely on the resale exemption provided by Rule 144, certain requirements must be met, including that the Company
is current in the filings required by the Securities Exchange of 1934, as amended. Because shareholders may not be able to rely on an
exemption for the resale of their securities other than Rule 144, they may not be able to easily re-sell our securities in the future and could
lose their entire investment as a result. See “Shares Eligible For Future Sale – Restrictions on the Use of Rule 144 by Shell Companies or
Former Shell Companies”.
We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging
growth companies will make our Common Stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and we intend to
take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not
“emerging growth companies” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and
proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We will remain an “emerging growth company” for up to
five years, although we will cease to be an “emerging growth company” upon the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year following the
fifth anniversary of our initial public offering (“IPO”), (ii) the last day of the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues are $1.07
billion or more, (iii) the date on which we have, during the previous rolling three-year period, issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible
debt securities or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a “large accelerated filer” as defined in the Exchange Act. We cannot predict
if investors will find shares of our Common Stock less attractive or us less comparable to certain other public companies because we will
rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Common Stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market
for our Common Stock and our Common Stock price may be more volatile.
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Pursuant to the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act for so long as we are an
“emerging growth company.”
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting, and generally requires in the same report a report by our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting. We are required to provide management’s attestation on internal controls effective December
31, 2020. However, under the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to attest to the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act until we are no longer an “emerging growth
company.” We will be an “emerging growth company” until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following the fifth anniversary
of our IPO, (b) in which we have total annual gross revenue of at least $1.07 billion or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large
accelerated filer, which means the market value of our Common Stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last
business day of our prior second fiscal quarter, and (2) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt
during the prior three-year period.
In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an “emerging growth company” can take advantage of the extended transition
period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act for complying with new or revised accounting standards. An “emerging growth
company” can therefore delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private
companies. However, we have chosen to “opt out” of such extended transition period and, as a result, we must comply with new or revised
accounting standards on the relevant dates on which adoption of such standards is required for non-emerging growth companies. Section
107 of the JOBS Act provides that our decision to opt out of the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards is irrevocable.
If we are not able to comply with the applicable continued listing requirements or standards of Nasdaq, Nasdaq could delist our
Common Stock.
Our Common Stock is currently listed on Nasdaq. In order to maintain such listing, we must satisfy minimum financial and other continued
listing requirements and standards, including those regarding director independence and independent committee requirements, minimum
stockholders’ equity, minimum share price, and certain corporate governance requirements. There can be no assurances that we will be
able to comply with the applicable listing standards. Although we are currently in compliance with such listing standards, we may in the
future fall out of compliance with such standards. If we are unable to maintain compliance with these Nasdaq requirements, our Common
Stock will be delisted from Nasdaq.
Our Common Stock currently trades on Nasdaq, and, to date, trading of our Common Stock has been limited. If a more active
market does not develop, it may be difficult for you to sell the Common Stock you own or result in your sale at a price that is
less than the price you paid.
To date, trading of our Common Stock on Nasdaq has been limited and there can be no assurance that there will be a more active market
for our Common Stock either now or in the future. If a more active and liquid trading market does not develop or if developed cannot be
sustained, you may have difficulty selling any of the shares of Common Stock that you purchased. The market price for our Common
Stock may decline below the price you paid, and you may not be able to sell your shares of Common Stock at or above the price you paid,
or at all.
On January 5, 2021, the Company received a written notice (the “Notice”) from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock
Market (“Nasdaq”) indicating that the Company was not in compliance with Listing Rule 5620(a) (the “Annual Meeting Rule”), which
requires the Company to hold an annual meeting of shareholders no later than one year after the end of the Company’s fiscal yearend for
continued listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The Notice is only a notification of deficiency, not of imminent delisting, and has no
current effect on the listing or trading of the Company’s securities on the NASDAQ Capital Market. The Company submitted a compliance
plan to Nasdaq and was granted until May 11, 2021 to comply with the Annual Meeting Rule. The Company anticipates holding its 2019
and 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 11, 2021.
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In the event that our Common Stock is delisted from Nasdaq, U.S. broker-dealers may be discouraged from effecting
transactions in shares of our Common Stock because they may be considered penny stocks and thus be subject to the penny
stock rules.
The SEC has adopted a number of rules to regulate “penny stock” that restricts transactions involving stock which is deemed to be penny
stock. Such rules include Rules 3a51-1, 15g-1, 15g-2, 15g-3, 15g-4, 15g-5, 15g-6, 15g-7, and 15g-9 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These rules may have the effect of reducing the liquidity of penny stocks. “Penny stocks”
generally are equity securities with a price of less than $5.00 per share (other than securities registered on certain national securities
exchanges or quoted on NASDAQ if current price and volume information with respect to transactions in such securities is provided by the
exchange or system). Our shares of Common Stock have in the past constituted, and may again in the future constitute, “penny stock”
within the meaning of the rules. The additional sales practice and disclosure requirements imposed upon U.S. broker-dealers may
discourage such broker-dealers from effecting transactions in shares of our Common Stock, which could severely limit the market liquidity
of such shares of common stock and impede their sale in the secondary market.
A U.S. broker-dealer selling penny stock to anyone other than an established customer or “accredited investor” (generally, an individual
with a net worth in excess of $1,000,000 or an annual income exceeding $200,000, or $300,000 together with his or her spouse) must
make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and must receive the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction prior to sale,
unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. In addition, the “penny stock” regulations require the U.S. broker-dealer to
deliver, prior to any transaction involving a “penny stock”, a disclosure schedule prepared in accordance with SEC standards relating to
the “penny stock” market, unless the broker-dealer or the transaction is otherwise exempt. A U.S. broker-dealer is also required to disclose
commissions payable to the U.S. broker-dealer and the registered representative and current quotations for the securities. Finally, a U.S.
broker-dealer is required to submit monthly statements disclosing recent price information with respect to the “penny stock” held in a
customer’s account and information with respect to the limited market in “penny stocks”.
Stockholders should be aware that, according to the SEC, the market for “penny stocks” has suffered in recent years from patterns of
fraud and abuse. Such patterns include (i) control of the market for the security by one or a few broker-dealers that are often related to the
promoter or issuer; (ii) manipulation of prices through prearranged matching of purchases and sales and false and misleading press
releases; (iii) “boiler room” practices involving high-pressure sales tactics and unrealistic price projections by inexperienced sales persons;
(iv) excessive and undisclosed bid-ask differentials and markups by selling broker-dealers; and (v) the wholesale dumping of the same
securities by promoters and broker-dealers after prices have been manipulated to a desired level, resulting in investor losses. Our
management is aware of the abuses that have occurred historically in the penny stock market. Although we do not expect to be in a
position to dictate the behavior of the market or of broker-dealers who participate in the market, management will strive within the confines
of practical limitations to prevent the described patterns from being established with respect to our securities.
Anti-takeover provisions contained in our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, as well as
provisions of Delaware law, could impair a takeover attempt.
The Company’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could have the effect of
delaying or preventing changes in control or changes in our management without the consent of our Board of Directors. These provisions
include:
●

A classified Board of Directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to the change the
membership of a majority of our Board of Directors;

●

no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

●

the exclusive right of our Board of Directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the Board of Directors
or the resignation, death, or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our Board of
Directors;

●

the ability of our Board of Directors to determine whether to issue shares of our preferred stock and to determine the price and
other terms of those shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to
significantly dilute the ownership of a hostile acquirer;
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●

a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an Annual or Special Meeting
of our Stockholders;

●

the requirement that an Annual Meeting of Stockholders may be called only by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive officer, or the Board of Directors, which may delay the ability of our stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or
to take action, including the removal of directors;

●

limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;

●

controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of stockholder meetings;

●

providing that directors may be removed prior to the expiration of their terms by stockholders only for cause; and

●

advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our Board of Directors or to
propose matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquirer from conducting
a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay hostile takeovers and changes in control of the Company or changes in our
Board of Directors and management.
As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware (“DGCL”), which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding Common Stock from engaging
in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of substantially all of our outstanding Common Stock. Any provision of our
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a
change in control could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our Common Stock and could
also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Common Stock.
Risks Related to Offerings and Ownership of Our Common Stock
The issuance of our Common Stock related to the Exchange and Subscription Agreement with GreenSeed Investors, LLC was
dilutive.
The Company entered into an Exchange and Subscription Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) dated April 22, 2020 with GreenSeed
Investors, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GSI”), and Solar Project Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“SPP”).
Under the terms of the Exchange Agreement, the shares of Preferred Stock are convertible into shares of Common Stock. The shares of
Preferred Stock were converted into 370,370 shares of Common Stock on February 22, 2021. In addition, on February 9, 2021 warrants
issued to GSI to purchase shares of Common Stock were exercised on a cashless basis. An aggregate of 117,376 shares of Common
Stock were issued in connection with such exercise.
The sale or issuance of our Common Stock to Lincoln Park may cause dilution and the sale of the shares of Common Stock
acquired by Lincoln Park, or the perception that such sales may occur, could cause the price of our Common Stock to fall.
On September 26, 2019, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with Lincoln Park, pursuant to which Lincoln Park has committed to
purchase up to $15,000,000 of our Common Stock. Upon the execution of the Purchase Agreement, we issued 81,263 Commitment
Shares to Lincoln Park in consideration for Lincoln Park’s commitment to purchase shares of our Common Stock under the Purchase
Agreement and we may issue up to an additional 40,937 shares of Common Stock pro rata in connection with each purchase made by
Lincoln Park pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. The remaining shares of our Common Stock that may be issued under the Purchase
Agreement may be sold by us to Lincoln Park at our discretion from time to time over a 24-month period commencing after the satisfaction
of certain conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement. The purchase price for the shares of our Common Stock that we may sell to
Lincoln Park under the Purchase Agreement will fluctuate based on the price of our Common Stock. Depending on market liquidity at the
time, sales of such shares may cause the trading price of our Common Stock to fall.
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We generally have the right to control the timing and amount of any future sales of our shares to Lincoln Park. Additional sales of our
Common Stock, if any, to Lincoln Park will depend upon market conditions and other factors to be determined by us. We may ultimately
decide to sell to Lincoln Park all, some or none of the shares of our Common Stock that may be available for us to sell pursuant to the
Purchase Agreement. If and when we do sell shares of our Common Stock to Lincoln Park, after Lincoln Park has acquired such shares,
Lincoln Park may resell all, some or none of such shares at any time or from time to time in its discretion. Therefore, sales to Lincoln Park
by us could result in substantial dilution to the interests of other holders of our shares of Common Stock. Additionally, the sale of a
substantial number of shares of our Common Stock to Lincoln Park, or the anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to
sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at a price that we might otherwise wish to effect sales.
The issuance of our Common Stock related to the Form S-3 Registration Statement and Sales Agreement with Alliance Global
Partners (“Agent”) may cause dilution and could cause the price of our Common Stock to fall.
A substantial majority of the outstanding shares of our Common Stock and exercisable options are freely tradable without restriction or
further registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The Registration Statement contains a Base Prospectus, which covers the offering, issuance and sale by iSun of up to $50,000,000 in the
aggregate of our shares of Common Stock from time to time in one or more offerings.
Pursuant to Sales Agreement with the Agent, as amended, iSun may offer and sell from time to time up to an aggregate of $915,000 of the
Placement Shares through the Agent. Sales of the Placement Shares pursuant to the Sales Agreement, may be made in sales deemed to
be “at the market offerings” as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act. The Agent will act as sales agent and will use
commercially reasonable efforts to sell on iSun’s behalf all of the Placement Shares requested to be sold by iSun, consistent with its
normal trading and sales practices, on mutually agreed terms between the Agent and iSun.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Common Stock in the public market, future sales of substantial amounts of shares of our
Common Stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales could occur, could cause the market price of our Common Stock to
decline. Increased sales of our Common Stock in the market for any reason could exert significant downward pressure on our stock price.
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We may require additional financing to sustain our operations, without which we may not be able to continue operations, and
the terms of subsequent financings may adversely impact our stockholders.
As of December 31, 2020, we had a working capital of $242,865 and had a net loss of $4,328 for the year ended December 31, 2020. On
January 8, 2021 we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with two institutional investors providing for the issuance and sale by
the Company of an aggregate 840,000 shares of our Common Stock in a registered direct offering at a purchase price of $12.50 per Share
for gross proceeds of approximately $10.5 million before deducting fees and offering expenses.
We may utilize the Shelf Registration to issue and sell up to $50,000,000 in the aggregate of our shares of Common Stock. The extent that
we rely on the Shelf Registration as a source of funding will depend on a number of factors including, the prevailing market price of our
Common Stock and the extent to which we are able to secure working capital from other sources. After utilizing approximately $10.5
million in a registered direct offering, the Company can utilize the Shelf Registration to generate approximately $39.5 million in additional
offerings.
We may direct Lincoln Park to purchase up to $15,000,000 worth of shares of our Common Stock under the Purchase Agreement over a
24-month period, generally in amounts up to 50,000 shares of our Common Stock, which may be increased to up to 100,000 shares of our
Common Stock depending on the market price of our Common Stock at the time of sale, and, in each case, subject to a maximum limit of
$250,000 per purchase, subject to certain exceptions, on any single business day (such share amounts being subject to adjustment for
any reorganization, recapitalization, non-cash dividend, stock split, reverse stock split or other similar transaction as provided in the
Purchase Agreement). Assuming a purchase price of $13.80 per share (the closing sale price of the Common Stock on February 5, 2021)
and the purchase by Lincoln Park of 50,000 shares of Common Stock, gross proceeds to us would be $690,000.
The extent that we rely on Lincoln Park as a source of funding will depend on a number of factors including, the prevailing market price of
our Common Stock and the extent to which we are able to secure working capital from other sources. If obtaining sufficient funding from
Lincoln Park were to prove unavailable or prohibitively dilutive, we will need to secure another source of funding in order to satisfy our
working capital needs. Even if we sell all $15,000,000 of Common Stock under the Purchase Agreement to Lincoln Park, we may still need
additional capital to finance our future production plans and working capital needs, and we may have to raise funds through the issuance
of equity or debt securities. Depending on the type and the terms of any financing we pursue, stockholders’ rights and the value of their
investment in our Common Stock could be reduced. A financing could involve one or more types of securities including Common Stock,
preferred stock, convertible debt or warrants to acquire Common Stock. These securities could be issued at or below the then prevailing
market price for our Common Stock. In addition, if we issue secured debt securities, the holders of the debt would have a claim to our
assets that would be prior to the rights of stockholders until the debt is paid. Interest on these debt securities would increase costs and
negatively impact operating results. If the issuance of new securities results in diminished rights to holders of our Common Stock, the
market price of our Common Stock could be negatively impacted.
Should the financing we require to sustain our working capital needs be unavailable or prohibitively expensive when we require it, the
consequences could be a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and prospects.
Our management will have broad discretion over the use of the net proceeds from our sale of shares of Common Stock to
Lincoln Park or utilization of the Sales Agreement with AGP, you may not agree with how we use the proceeds and the proceeds
may not be invested successfully.
Our management will have broad discretion as to the use of the net proceeds from our sale of shares of Common Stock to Lincoln Park or
utilization of the Sales Agreement with AGP, and we could use them for purposes other than those contemplated at the time of
commencement of this offering. Accordingly, you will be relying on the judgment of our management with regard to the use of those net
proceeds, and you will not have the opportunity, as part of your investment decision, to assess whether the proceeds are being used
appropriately. It is possible that, pending their use, we may invest those net proceeds in a way that does not yield a favorable, or any,
return for us. The failure of our management to use such funds effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows.
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The share price of our Common Stock is subject to fluctuation, has been and may continue to be volatile and may decline
regardless of our operating performance, resulting in substantial losses for investors who have purchased shares of our
Common Stock.
We expect that the market price of our Common Stock may continue to be volatile for the foreseeable future. The market price of our
Common Stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the factors
listed below and other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section:
●

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

●

the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these projections;

●

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of our company, changes in financial estimates by any securities
analysts who follow our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

●

ratings changes by any securities analysts who follow our company;

●

announcements by us or our competitors of significant technical innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or
capital commitments;

●

changes in operating performance and Common stock market valuations of other technology companies generally;

●

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;

●

changes in our Board of Directors or management;

●

sales of large blocks of our Common Stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders;

●

potential lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

●

short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions involving our Common Stock;

●

general economic conditions in the United States and abroad; and

●

other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism or responses to these events.

In addition, stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many software companies. Stock prices of many software companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated
or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities action litigation
following periods of market volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert
resources and the attention of management from our business and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition and
cash flows.
We have no history of paying dividends on our Common Stock, and we do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable
future.
We have not previously paid dividends on our Common Stock. We currently anticipate that we will retain all of our available cash, if any, for
use as working capital and for other general corporate purposes. Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of
Directors and will depend upon, among other things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory
and contractual restrictions applicable to the payment of dividends and other considerations that our Board of Directors deems relevant.
Investors must rely on sales of their Common Stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize a return on
their investment.
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Our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue shares of blank check preferred stock,
and issuances of such preferred stock, or securities convertible into or exercisable for such preferred stock, may result in
immediate dilution to existing stockholders, including investors in this offering.
If we raise additional funds through future issuances of preferred stock or debt securities convertible into preferred stock, our stockholders
could suffer significant dilution, and any new preferred stock or debt securities that we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges
superior to those of holders of shares of Common Stock. Although we have no present plans to issue any additional shares of preferred
stock, in the event that we issue additional shares of our preferred stock, or securities convertible into or exercisable for such preferred
stock after the date of the offering, the investors in this offering will be diluted. We may choose to raise additional capital using such
preferred stock or debt securities because of market conditions or strategic considerations, even if we believe that we have sufficient funds
for our current or future operating plans.
A market for our securities may not continue, which would adversely affect the liquidity and price of our securities.
The price of our securities may fluctuate significantly due to general market and economic conditions. An active trading market for our
securities may never develop or, if developed, it may not be sustained. In addition, the price of our securities can vary due to general
economic conditions and forecasts, our general business condition and the release of our financial reports. Additionally, if our securities
become delisted from Nasdaq for any reason, and are quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board, an inter-dealer automated quotation system for
equity securities that is not a national securities exchange, the liquidity and price of our securities may be more limited than if we were
quoted or listed on Nasdaq or another national securities exchange. You may be unable to sell your securities unless a market can be
established or sustained.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market,
or if they change their recommendations regarding our Common Stock adversely, the price and trading volume of our Common
Stock could decline.
The trading market for our Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts may publish
about us, our business, our market, or our competitors. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research
on us. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, our stock price and trading volume would likely be negatively
impacted. If any of the analysts who may cover us change their recommendation regarding our Common Stock adversely, or provide more
favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, the price of our Common Stock would likely decline. If any analyst who may
cover us were to cease coverage of us or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which could
cause our Common Stock price or trading volume to decline.
Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders own a significant percentage of our Common Stock and will be able
to exert significant control over matters subject to stockholder approval.
As of March 12, 2021, our directors, executive officers and holders of more than 5% of our equity securities, together with their affiliates,
beneficially own 50% of our outstanding shares of Common Stock. As a result, these stockholders have significant influence to determine
the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the ability to control the election of our directors, amend or
prevent amendment of our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or effect or prevent a change in corporate
control, merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination. In addition, any sale of a significant amount of our Common Stock
held by our directors, executive officers and principal stockholders, or the possibility of such sales, could adversely affect the market price
of our Common Stock. Our management’s stock ownership may also discourage a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or
otherwise attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could reduce our Common Stock price or prevent our stockholders from
realizing any gains from our Common Stock.
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Implications of Being an “Emerging Growth Company”
As a public reporting company with less than $1.07 billion in revenue during our last fiscal year, we qualify as an “emerging growth
company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). An emerging growth company may take advantage of
specified reduced reporting requirements that are otherwise generally applicable to public companies. In particular, as an emerging growth
company, we:
●

are not required to obtain an attestation and report from our auditors on our management’s assessment of our internal control
over financial reporting pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”);

●

are not required to provide a detailed narrative disclosure discussing our compensation principles, objectives and elements and
analyzing how those elements fit with our principles and objectives (commonly referred to as “compensation discussion and
analysis”);

●

are not required to obtain a non-binding advisory vote from our stockholders on executive compensation or golden parachute
arrangements (commonly referred to as the “say-on-pay,” “say-on-frequency” and “say-on-golden-parachute” votes);

●

are exempt from certain executive compensation disclosure provisions requiring a pay-for-performance graph and CEO pay ratio
disclosure;

●

may present only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of related Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) disclosure; and

●

are eligible to claim longer phase-in periods for the adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards under §107 of the
JOBS Act.

We intend to take advantage of all of these reduced reporting requirements and exemptions, including the longer phase-in periods for the
adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards under §107 of the JOBS Act. Our election to use the phase-in periods may make
it difficult to compare our financial statements to those of non-emerging growth companies and other emerging growth companies that
have opted out of the phase-in periods under §107 of the JOBS Act.
Certain of these reduced reporting requirements and exemptions were already available to us due to the fact that we also qualify as a
“smaller reporting company” under the SEC’s rules. For instance, smaller reporting companies are not required to obtain an auditor
attestation and report regarding internal control over financial reporting, are not required to provide a compensation discussion and
analysis, are not required to provide a pay-for-performance graph or CEO pay ratio disclosure, and may present only two years of audited
financial statements and related MD&A disclosure.
Under the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of the above-described reduced reporting requirements and exemptions for up to five years
after our initial sale of common equity pursuant to a registration statement declared effective under the Securities Act, or such earlier time
that we no longer meet the definition of an emerging growth company. In this regard, the JOBS Act provides that we would cease to be an
“emerging growth company” if we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue, have more than $700 million in market value of our
Common Stock held by non-affiliates, or issue more than $1 billion in principal amount of non-convertible debt over a three-year period.
Under current SEC rules, however, we will continue to qualify as a “smaller reporting company” for so long as we have a public float (i.e.,
the market value of common equity held by non-affiliates) of less than $700 million and annual revenue of less than $100 million as of the
last business day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2.

Properties.

We leased space and occupy 6,250 square feet of office space and 6,750 square feet of warehouse space at 400 Avenue D, Suite 10,
Williston, VT 05495. We believe that this space is sufficient to meet our current needs across all business segments.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any legal proceedings that, individually or in the aggregate, are deemed to be material to our financial
condition or results of operations.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures .

Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities .

Our Common Stock is traded on Nasdaq under the symbol “ISUN.” The last reported sale price of our Common Stock on March 12, 2021
on Nasdaq was $13.80 per share.
Holders of Common Stock.
On March 12, 2021, we had 9,387 registered holders of record of our Common Stock.
Dividends and dividend policy.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our Common Stock, nor do we currently intend to pay any cash dividend on our
Common Stock in the foreseeable future. We expect to retain our earnings, if any, for the growth and development of our business.
Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information under this item, pursuant to Regulation S-K Item 301(c).
Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. The actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those set forth under “Risk
Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Business Introduction / Overview
iSun, Inc., the principal office of which is located in Williston, Vermont, is one of the largest commercial solar engineering, procurement
and construction (“EPC”) companies in the country and is expanding across the Northeastern United States (“U.S.”). The Company is a
second-generation business founded under the name Peck Electric Co. (“Peck Electric”) in 1972 as a traditional electrical contractor. The
Company’s core values are to align people, purpose, and profitability, and since taking leadership in 1994, Jeffrey Peck, the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer, has applied such core values to expand into the solar industry. Today, the Company is guided by the mission to
facilitate the reduction of carbon emissions through the expansion of clean, renewable energy and we believe that leveraging such core
values to deploy resources toward profitable business is the only sustainable strategy to achieve these objectives.
The world recognizes the need to transition to a reliable, renewable energy grid in the next 50 years. Vermont and Hawaii are leading the
way in the U.S. with renewable energy goals of 75% by 2032 and 100% by 2045, respectively. California committed to 100% carbon-free
energy by 2045. The majority of the other states in the U.S. also have renewable energy goals regardless of current Federal solar policy.
We are a member of Renewable Energy Vermont, an organization that advocates for clean, practical and renewable solar energy. The
Company intends to use near-term incentives to take advantage of long-term, sustainable energy transformation with a commitment to the
environment and to its shareholders. Our triple bottom line, which is geared towards people, environment, and profit, has always been our
guide since we began installing renewable energy and we intend that it remain our guide over the next 50 years as we construct our
energy future.
After installing more than 200 megawatts of solar energy, we believe that we are well-positioned for what we believe to be the coming
transformation to an all renewable energy economy. As a result of the completion of our business combination transaction with Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. (“Jensyn”) on June 20, 2019, pursuant to which we acquired Peck Electric Co. (the “Reverse Merger and
Recapitalization”), we have now opened our company to the public market as part of our strategic growth plan. We are expanding across
the Northeastern U.S. to serve the fast-growing demand for clean renewable energy. We are open to partnering with others to accelerate
our growth process, and we are expanding our portfolio of company-owned solar arrays to establish recurring revenue streams for many
years to come. We have established a leading presence in the market after five decades of successfully serving our customers, and we
are now ready for new opportunities and the next five decades of success.
We have a three-pronged growth strategy that includes (1) organic expansion across the Northeastern United States, (2) conducting
accretive merger and acquisition transactions to expand geographically, and (3) investing into company-owned solar assets.
On January 19, 2021, we entered in an agreement to acquire iSun Energy LLC based in Burlington, Vermont. iSun Energy, LLC offers a
portfolio of products that supports the growing electric vehicle market, specifically carports, charging stations and user-facing technology.
The flagship iSun Energy & Mobility Hub is the result of 30 years of passion, dedication, and innovation through sustainability. The iSun
solar EV carport charging systems incorporate solar panels to charge electric vehicles while providing unparalleled software insights into
data surrounding the energy produced, consumed, air quality effects and other key metrics. The iSun Oasis Smart Solar Bench is
expected to be an integral part in developing smart cities and campuses and has the ability to charge any mobile device through integrated
solar panels that collect and store energy throughout the day. iSun’s accompanying data platform allows for monitoring and analysis of key
metrics through built in IoT (Internet of Things) sensors. The platform also affords both physical and digital advertising and branding, for
additional recurring revenue opportunities. iSun’s Augmented Reality 3D software platform helps clients visualize their projects before they
are built, making it easy for our clients to adopt sustainable solutions and to understand their impact on sustainability. As we continue to
execute on our three-pronged growth strategy, the iSun Energy, LLC acquisition allows to further enable the transition to renewable and
clean energy. As our portfolio of offerings continues to expand, we are able to further provide energy as a service to the marketplace.
With the filing of our Form S-3 Registration Statement on December 4, 2020, we have the ability to access the capital markets up to
$50,000,000 in aggregate to support our statement growth strategy. The access to capital accelerates our growth process and allows us to
continue our expansion plans into new territories, aggressively pursue accretive merger and acquisition transactions and continue
investing in our company-owned solar assets which now consist of the product offerings of iSun Energy LLC. There is currently
approximately $39.5 million available under the Registration Statement as we drew down approximately $10.5 million through our
Registered Direct Offering.
On April 24, 2020, we were fortunate to obtain a loan under the CARES Act Payroll Protection Program (“PPP”) of $1,487,624. The loan
allowed us to maintain our workforce during the shutdown caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. On December 1, 2020, the Company
received notification from NBT Bank that the Small Business Administration has approved the forgiveness of the PPP loan in its entirety
and as such, the full $1,496,468 has been recognized in the income statement as a gain upon debt extinguishment for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
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Equity and Ownership Structure
On June 20, 2019, Jensyn consummated the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, which resulted in the acquisition of 100% of the
issued and outstanding equity securities of Peck Electric by Jensyn, and in Peck Electric becoming a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jensyn.
Jensyn was originally incorporated as a special purpose acquisition company, formed for the purpose of entering into a merger, share
exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization or other similar Recapitalization. Simultaneously with the
Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, we changed our name to “The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.” We conducted all of our business
operations exclusively through our wholly-owned subsidiary, Peck Electric.
Unless the context otherwise requires, “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refers to iSun, Inc. (formerly The Peck Company Holdings,
Inc.) and its subsidiary after June 20, 2019, and “Peck Electric” refers to the business of Peck Electric before June 20, 2019. Upon closing
of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, Peck Electric was deemed the accounting acquirer and takes over the historical information
for the Company.
Effective January 19, 2021, the Company changed its corporate name from The Peck Company Holdings, Inc. to iSun, Inc. (the “Name
Change”). The Name Change was effected through a parent/subsidiary short-form merger of iSun, Inc., our wholly owned Delaware
subsidiary formed solely for the purpose of the name change, with and into us. We were the surviving entity. To effectuate the short-form
merger, we filed a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on January 19, 2021. The merger became
effective on January 19, 2021 with the State of Delaware and, for purposes of the quotation of our Common Stock on the Nasdaq Capital
Market (“Nasdaq”), effective at the open of the market on January 20, 2021. We conduct all of our business operations exclusively through
our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Peck Electric and iSun Energy LLC.
Critical Accounting Policies
The following discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations are based upon the Company’s
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include estimates used to review the
Company’s impairments and estimations of long-lived assets, impairment on investment, revenue recognition utilizing a cost to cost
method, allowances for uncollectible accounts, and the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets. The Company bases its estimates on
historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable in the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
Revenue Recognition
We recognize revenue from contracts with customers under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 (“Topic 606”). Under
Topic 606, revenue is recognized when, or as, control of promised goods and services is transferred to customers, and the amount of
revenue recognized reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the goods and services transferred.
We primarily recognize revenue over time utilizing the cost-to-cost measure of progress on contracts for specific projects and for certain
master service and other service agreements.
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Contracts. We derive revenue primarily from construction projects performed under: (i) master and other service agreements, which are
typically priced using either a time and materials or a fixed price per unit basis; and (ii) contracts for specific projects requiring the
construction and installation of an entire infrastructure system or specified units within an infrastructure system, which are subject to
multiple pricing options, including fixed price, unit price, time and materials, or cost plus a markup.
The total contract transaction price and cost estimation processes used for recognizing revenue over time under the cost-to-cost method
is based on the professional knowledge and experience of our project managers, engineers and financial professionals. Management
reviews estimates of total contract transaction price and total project costs on an ongoing basis. Changes in job performance, job
conditions and management’s assessment of expected variable consideration are factors that influence estimates of the total contract
transaction price, total costs to complete those contracts and our profit recognition. Changes in these factors could result in revisions to
revenue in the period in which the revisions are determined, which could materially affect our consolidated results of operations for that
period. Provisions for losses on uncompleted contracts are recorded in the period in which such losses are determined. For the year
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, project profit was affected by less than 5% as a result of changes in contract estimates included in
projects that were in process as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Performance Obligations. A performance obligation is a contractual promise to transfer a distinct good or service to a customer and is
the unit of account under Topic 606. The transaction price of a contract is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized
as revenue when or as the performance obligation is satisfied. Our contracts often require significant services to integrate complex
activities and equipment into a single deliverable and are therefore generally accounted for as a single performance obligation, even when
delivering multiple distinct services. Contract amendments and change orders, which are generally not distinct from the existing contract,
are typically accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation. The vast majority of our performance
obligations are completed within one year.
When more than one contract is entered into with a customer on or close to the same date, management evaluates whether those
contracts should be combined and accounted for as a single contract as well as whether those contracts should be accounted for as one,
or more than one, performance obligation. This evaluation requires significant judgment and is based on the facts and circumstances of
the various contracts.
Union Labor
The Company uses union labor in order to construct and maintain the solar, electric and data work that comprise the core activities of its
business. As such, contributions were made by the Company to the National Joint Apprenticeship and Training Committee, the National
Electrical Benefit Funds, Union Pension Plans and a union Health and Welfare Fund. Each employee contributes monthly to the
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (“IBEW”). The Company’s contract with the IBEW expires May 31, 2022.
The Company’s management believes that access to unionized labor provides a unique advantage for growth, because workforce
resources can be scaled efficiently utilizing labor unions in other states to meet specific project needs in other states without substantially
increasing fixed costs for the Company.
Business Insurance / Captive Insurance Group
In 2018, Peck Electric joined a captive insurance group. The Company’s management believes that belonging to a captive insurance
group will stabilize business insurance expenses and will lock in lower rates that are not subject to change from year-to-year and instead
are based on the Company’s favorable experience modification rate.
Revenue Drivers
The Company’s business includes the design and construction of solar arrays for its customers. Revenue is recognized for each
construction project on a percentage of completion basis. From time to time, the Company constructs solar arrays for its own account or
purchases a solar array that must still be constructed. In these instances, no revenue is recognized for the construction of the solar array.
In instances where the Company owns the solar array, revenue is recognized for the sale of the electricity generated to third parties. As a
result, depending on whether it is building for others or for its own account, the Company’s revenue is subject to significant variation.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 COMPARED TO THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2019
REVENUE AND COST OF EARNED REVENUE
For the year ended December 31, 2020, our revenue decreased 25.4% to $21,052,211 compared to $28,221,569 for the year ended
December 31, 2019. Cost of earned revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020, was 26.2% lower at $17,742,118 compared to
$24,050,197 for the year ended December 31, 2019. Our revenue was limited due to the shutdown as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Company had several projects that were scheduled to begin in the second quarter of the year that were rescheduled until the end of
the third quarter. The delay in project start dates impacted our ability to grow revenue during 2020 but will positively impact future periods
as project start dates were rescheduled to the first quarter of 2021.
Gross profit was $2,343,137 for the year ended December 31, 2020. This compares to $4,171,372 of gross profit for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The gross margin was 11.1% in the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to 14.8% in the year ended
December 31, 2019. Approximately 80% of revenue in the year ended December 31, 2020 was from solar installations compared to 77%
of revenues in the year ended December 31, 2019. The solar installation represents higher margin installation in comparison to our
traditional electrical and data installations which lead to an increase in gross margin. However, the impact of our worksite shutdowns as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic eroded our margins as we were required to remove all material and equipment from our projects. Once
our projects were able to resume operations, we incurred additional costs related to remobilizing and training our workforce as well as
delivering material and equipment to the respective jobs sites.
For 2021, we anticipate an increase in revenue over 2020 due to several factors. The sum of our backlog projects are already near $61
million and are anticipated to be completed within twelve to eighteen months. We are not typically bidding competitively for projects, but
instead engage with our customers over a long-term basis to develop project designs and to help customers reduce project costs.
Therefore, the $61 million in project-based revenue anticipated for the next twelve to eighteen months represents projects that have a high
probability for conversion. Historically, we have been awarded over 90% of the projects we have reviewed for construction. The upfront
assistance and coordination with our clients can be considered our marketing effort, which is a significant advantage for converting a high
percentage of its pipeline projects.
In addition, we are engaging existing customers and new partners outside of Vermont as part of our planned 2021 expansion across the
Northeast. The Company has already identified over $26 million of opportunities in other states that are included in its 2021 and 2022
projections.
SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES
We rely on referrals from customers and on its industry reputation, and therefore have not historically incurred significant selling and
marketing expenses.
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
Total general and administrative (G&A) expenses were $3,343,895 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $2,385,900 for
the year ended December 31, 2019. As a percentage of revenue, G&A expenses increased to 15.9% in the year ended December 31,
2020 compared to 8.5% in the year ended December 31, 2019. In total dollars, G&A expense increased primarily due to the added
personal costs required to support the Company’s growth initiatives compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. With the acquisition
of iSun Energy LLC, we do anticipate an increase in G&A to support the new opportunities provided by our expanded product and service
offerings. We continue to search for talented individuals that can support our growth strategies.
WAREHOUSE AND OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
Warehousing and other operating expenses for 2020 are expected to be stable or decrease compared to prior years as we continue to look
for opportunities to streamline our operations and decrease our cost structure. To date, we have reduced certain administrative and
insurance costs and restructured our utilization of skilled labor in order to reduce the overhead burden, without compromising the ability to
operate effectively.
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Interest expense for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, was $302,542 compared to $244,068 for the same period of the prior
year as a result of increased utilization of our line of credit. We recognized a gain on the forgiveness of the PPP loan of $1,496,468 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2020.
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INCOME (BENEFIT)TAX EXPENSE
The US GAAP effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 was 99.12% and December 31, 2019 was 163.19%. The
proforma effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2020 was 27.72% and December 31, 2019 was 27.72%. At December 31,
2020, the change in the effective tax rate (“ETR”) is driven by the non-taxable income generated from the forgiveness of a loan under the
CARES Act Payroll Protection Program (“PPP”) of $1,487,624. At December 31, 2019, the change in the effective tax rate (“ETR”) is
driven by the conversion from an S-corporation to C-corporation, which occurred on the date of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization.
This conversion resulted in non-recurring deferred tax expense of $1,098,481 for the year ended December 31, 2019 related to the
recognition of deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences that existed on the date of the change. Excluding the impact of the
conversion, the Company’s ETR was 27.72% based on the statutory tax rates in the jurisdictions where the Company is subject to income
taxes.
NET LOSS
The net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $4,328 compared to a net loss of $427,795 for the year ended December 31,
2019.
Certain Non-GAAP Measures
We periodically review the following key non-GAAP measures to evaluate our business and trends, measure our performance, prepare
financial projections and make strategic decisions.
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA
Included in this presentation are discussions and reconciliations of earnings before interest, income tax and depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”) and EBITDA adjusted for certain non-cash, non-recurring or non-core expenses (“Adjusted EBITDA”) to net loss in
accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain non-cash and other expenses, certain legal services costs, professional and
consulting fees and expenses, and one-time Reverse Merger and Recapitalization expenses and certain adjustments. We believe that
these non-GAAP measures illustrate the underlying financial and business trends relating to our results of operations and comparability
between current and prior periods. We also use these non-GAAP measures to establish and monitor operational goals.
These non-GAAP measures are not in accordance with, or an alternative to, GAAP and should be considered in addition to, and not as a
substitute or superior to, the other measures of financial performance prepared in accordance with GAAP. Using only the non-GAAP
financial measures, particularly Adjusted EBITDA, to analyze our performance would have material limitations because such calculations
are based on a subjective determination regarding the nature and classification of events and circumstances that investors may find
significant. We compensate for these limitations by presenting both the GAAP and non-GAAP measures of our operating results. Although
other companies may report measures entitled “Adjusted EBITDA” or similar in nature, numerous methods may exist for calculating a
company’s Adjusted EBITDA or similar measures. As a result, the methods that we use to calculate Adjusted EBITDA may differ from the
methods used by other companies to calculate their non-GAAP measures.
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The reconciliations of EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure calculated and presented
in accordance with GAAP, are shown in the table below:

Net loss
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Income tax (benefit)
EBITDA
Other costs (1)

$

Adjusted EBITDA
Weighted Average shares outstanding
Adjusted EPS

Year ended
December 31,
2020
2019
(4,328) $
(427,795)
585,690
621,233
302,542
244,068
(487,173)
1,104,840
396,731
1,542,346
273,819
396,731

1,816,165

5,301,471

4,447,681

0.07

0.41

(1) Other costs consist of one-time expenses of multiple year financial audits and other legal and professional fees associated with the
Reverse Merger and Recapitalization. Prior to the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, the Company did not require annual financial
statement audits. As part of the preparation for being a publicly traded entity, the Company was required to undergo financial
statement audit for the years ended December 31, 2017. The cost of this expense is included in other costs.
(2) As the forgiveness of the PPP loan is considered a one-time expense, the Company considered including the forgiveness of
$1,496,468 as a reconciling item. The Company excluded the forgiveness on the basis that had it not been awarded a PPP loan, the
Company would have terminated, furlough or reduced its workforce during the COVID-19 pandemic shutdown.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
We had $699,154 in unrestricted cash at December 31, 2020, as compared to $95,930 at December 31, 2019.
As of December 31, 2020, our working capital surplus was $242,865 compared to a working capital surplus of $362,586 at December 31,
2019. On January 8, 2021, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with two institutional investors providing for the issuance
and sale by the Company of an aggregate 840,000 shares of our Common Stock in a registered direct offering at a purchase price of
$12.50 per Share for gross proceeds of approximately $10.5 million before deducting fees and offering expenses.
We believe that the aggregate of our existing cash and cash equivalents, including our working capital line of credit, shelf registration and
equity line of capital, will be sufficient to meet our operating cash requirements until at least March 30, 2022.
As of March 12, 2021, we have approximately $20.5 million in cash availability. During the first quarter of 2021, we received cash
proceeds of approximately $15 million from the exercise of our Public Warrants and an additional approximately $2.5 million from the
exercise of 292,500 Unit Purchase Options. The available funds will support the execution of our approximate $61 million in backlog. We
believe the backlog is executable within the next twelve to eighteen months which would support our transition back to profitability in 2021.
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With the filing of our Form S-3 Registration Statement on December 4, 2020, we have the ability to access the capital markets up to
$50,000,000 in aggregate to support our statement growth strategy. The access to capital accelerates our growth process and allows us to
continue our expansion plans into new territories, aggressively pursue accretive merger and acquisition transactions and continue
investing in our company-owned solar assets which now consist of the product offerings of iSun Energy LLC. There is currently
approximately $39.5 million available under the Registration Statement as we drew down approximately $10.5 million through our
Registered Direct Offering.
Under the terms of the equity line of credit entered into on September 26, 2019, Lincoln Park Capital is required to purchase shares up to
a total value of $15,000,000 pursuant to certain terms and conditions. As of December 31, 2020, $15,000,000 of the equity line of credit is
available for use. We can require the purchase of 50,000 shares of Common Stock under a regular purchase. On the next day following a
regular purchase, we can require the purchase of an accelerated purchase equal to 200% of the shares sold in the regular purchase as
well as an additional accelerated purchase equal to 300% of the shares sold in the regular purchase. The total number of shares
authorized under the Purchase Agreement total 3,024,194 which would allow us to maximize the equity line of credit within 10 business
days. At that moment, we have no plans to utilize our equity line of credit, but we do have the capability to raise capital utilizing this at-themarket offering and receive the cash proceeds from the transaction to fund our operating activities.
Cash flow provided by operating activities was $435,814 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $2,130,694 of cash used by
operating activities in the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily the result of
the decrease in accounts receivable of $914,356 and an increase in billings in excess of costs of $1,014,099.
Net cash used in investing activities was $65,351 for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $4,276 used in the year ended
December 31, 2019. This increase was related to the continued investment in our captive insurance.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $232,761 for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to $1,917,683 of cash provided
by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2019. The cash flow used by financing activities was utilized to make payments
against the line of credit as well as payments against long-term debt. The Company also received proceeds from the PPP loan of
$1,496,468.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2020, our variable interest rate debt was primarily related to our Credit Facility with NBT Bank. Interest on outstanding
revolving loans and our term loan under our Credit Facility accrues at variable rates based on, prime rate, as defined in the Credit Facility,
plus a margin. As of December 31, 2020, we had $2.5 million aggregate principal amount of outstanding revolving loans under our Credit
Facility with a weighted average interest rate of 3.25%. A 100 basis point increase in the applicable interest rates under our credit facilities
would have increased our interest expense by approximately $30,000 for the year ended December 31, 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, our fixed interest rate debt primarily included $2.0 million aggregate principal amount of with variable interest
rates, which accrued interest at a weighted average interest rate of approximately 4.4%. None of this debt subjects us to interest rate risk,
but we may be subject to changes in interest rates if and when we refinance this debt at maturity or otherwise.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on its
financial condition, revenues, results of operations, liquidity, or capital expenditures.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
iSun, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of iSun, Inc. (formerly The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.) (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows
for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December
31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Marcum
Marcum

LLP

LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019
New York, NY
March 15, 2021
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iSun, Inc.
(formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.)
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2020 and 2019
2020
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
Other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment:
Building and improvements
Vehicles
Tools and equipment
Solar arrays

699,154
6,215,957
1,354,602
214,963
8,484,676

2019
$

672,727
1,199,535
508,846
6,386,025
8,767,133
(2,647,333)
6,119,800

Less accumulated depreciation
Other Assets:
Captive insurance investment
Investment in GreenSeed Investors, LLC
Investment in Solar Partner Projects, LLC
Total assets

95,930
7,294,605
1,272,372
201,326
8,864,233
672,727
1,283,364
517,602
6,386,025
8,859,718
(2,193,007)
6,666,711

198,105

140,875

4,724,444
96,052
5,018,601
$ 19,623,077

140,875
$ 15,671,819

$

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable, includes book overdraft of $1,246,437 and $1,496,695 at December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively
Accrued expenses
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Due to stockholders
Line of credit
Current portion of deferred compensation
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Deferred compensation, net of current portion
Deferred tax liability
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Total liabilities

4,086,173
172,021

4,274,517
119,211

1,140,125
24,315
2,482,127

126,026
342,718
3,185,041

28,656
308,394
8,241,811

27,880
426,254
8,501,647

62,531
610,558
1,701,495
10,616,395

88,883
1,098,481
1,966,047
11,655,058

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock – 0.0001 par value 200,000 shares authorized, 200,000 and 0 issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively (Liquidation Value of $5,000,000)
20
Common stock – 0.0001 par value 49,000,000 shares authorized, 5,313,268 and 5,298,159 issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
531
Additional paid-in capital
5,682,139
Retained earnings
3,323,992
Total Stockholders’ equity
9,006,682
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$ 19,623,077
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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412,356
3,603,876
4,016,761
$ 15,671,819

Table of Contents

iSun, Inc.
(formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.)
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Earned revenue
Cost of earned revenue
Gross profit

2020

2019

$ 21,052,211
18,709,074
2,343,137

$ 28,221,569
24,050,197
4,171,372

Warehouse and other operating expenses
General and administrative expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating (loss) income

684,669
3,343,895
4,028,564
(1,685,427)

864,359
2,385,900
3,250,259
921,113

Other expenses
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan
Interest expense

1,496,468
(302,542)

(Loss) income before income taxes
(Benefit) provision for income taxes

(491,501)
(487,173)

Net loss

(4,328)

Net income applicable to preferred stock dividend

(275,556)

Net loss available to shares of common stockholders
Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
Basic and diluted

$

(279,884) $
5,301,471

Basic and diluted

$
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(0.05) $

(244,068)
677,045
1,104,840
(427,795)
(427,795)
4,447,681
(0.10)

Table of Contents

iSun, Inc.
(formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.)
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
December 31, 2020 and 2019
Common Stock
Shares
Amounts

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

-

3,234,501

$

Preferred Stock
Shares
Amounts
Balance as of January 1, 2019

-

Cash distributions to
shareholders

-

-

-

-

-

Conversion of rights to common
shares

-

-

419,450

42

-

Combination with Peck Electric
Co.

-

-

1,820,744

182

Shares issued for equity line

-

-

81,263

8

Forfeitures

-

-

(257,799)

Net loss

-

-

-

Balance as of December 31,
2019

-

-

5,298,159

200,000

20

-

Investment in Solar Project
Partners, LLC

-

-

Preferred stock dividend

-

Exercise of warrants
Net loss

Investment in Green Seed
Investors, LLC

Balance as of, December 31,
2020

$

323

(26)
-

$ 5,071,038

(486,414)
-

42

(129,324)

-

(129,142)

(10,976)

-

(10,968)

26

-

$

(486,414)

(427,795)

(427,795)
$ 4,016,761

-

4,999,980

-

5,000,000

-

-

96,052

-

96,052

-

-

-

-

-

-

15,109

2

173,751

-

-

-

-

-

20

5,313,268

531

$ 5,682,139

$

529

$ 4,518,085

$ 3,603,876

$

$

552,630

Total

412,356

200,000

$

$

Retained
Earnings

(275,556)
(4,328)
$ 3,323,992

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(275,556)
173,753
(4,328)
$ 9,006,682
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iSun, Inc.
(formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

$

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Bad debt expense
Gain on forgiveness of PPP loan
Deferred finance charge amortization
(Benefit) provision for deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
Accrued losses on contract in progress
Deferred compensation
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(4,328) $

(427,795)

585,690
164,292
(1,496,468)
3,073
(487,923)

621,233
69,000
1,544
1,098,481

914,356
(13,637)
(82,230)
(188,344)
52,810
1,014,099
(25,576)
435,814

(5,309,192)
(201,326)
(553,388)
2,778,732
(117,249)
(54,601)
(9,128)
(27,005)
(2,130,694)

(8,121)
(57,230)
(65,351)

(39,612)
224,530
(129,142)
(60,052)
(4,276)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of equipment
Cash surrender value – life insurance
Investment costs
Investment in captive insurance
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments of line of credit
Proceeds from long-term debt
Deferred finance charges
Payments of long-term debt
Due to stockholders
Proceeds from PPP loan
Proceeds from warrant exercise
Equity line issuance costs
Stockholder distributions paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year

2019

18,080,985
13,927,654
(18,783,899)
(11,715,137)
9,338
(21,547)
(416,143)
(347,356)
(318,403)
295,299
1,496,468
173,753
(10,968)
(219,600)
232,761
1,917,683
603,224
(217,287)
95,930
313,217
$
699,154 $
95,930

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Shares of Preferred Stock issued for investment
Warrants issued for investment
Preferred dividends satisfied with distribution from investment
Vehicles purchased and financed
Shares of Common Stock issued for equity line, at par
Accrued S corporation distributions which have not been paid

$

293,751
750

$

244,068
5,859

$
$
$
$
$
$

5,000,000
96,052
275,556
30,658
-

$
$
$
$
$
$

126,793
8
266,814

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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iSUN, INC.
(formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019
1.

SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Organization
iSun, Inc.(formerly known as The Peck Holdings, Inc.) is a solar engineering, construction and procurement contractor for commercial
and industrial customers across the Northeastern United States. The Company also provides electrical contracting services and data
and communication services. The work is performed under fixed-price and modified fixed-price contracts and time and materials
contracts. The Company is incorporated in the State of Delaware and has its corporate headquarters in Williston, Vermont.
Effective January 19, 2021, the Company changed its corporate name from The Peck Company Holdings, Inc. to iSun, Inc. (the
“Name Change”). The Name Change was affected through a parent/subsidiary short-form merger of iSun, Inc., our wholly-owned
Delaware subsidiary formed solely for the purpose of the name change, with and into us. We were the surviving entity. To effectuate
the short-form merger, we filed a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on January 19, 2021. The
merger became effective on January 19, 2021 with the State of Delaware and, for purposes of the quotation of our Common Stock on
the Nasdaq Capital Market (“Nasdaq”), effective at the open of the market on January 20, 2021.
On February 26, 2019, Peck Electric Co., a privately-held company, entered into a Share Exchange Agreement (the “Exchange
Agreement”) with Jensyn Acquisition Corp. (“Jensyn”), a publicly-held company whose primary business objective was to acquire,
through a merger, share exchange, asset acquisition, stock purchase, recapitalization, reorganization or other similar business
combination (the “Reverse Merger and Recapitalization”), with one or more target businesses (a special purpose acquisition company
or “SPAC”). On June 20, 2019, with the approval of the stockholders of each of Peck Electric Co. and Jensyn, the Reverse Merger
and Recapitalization was completed. In connection with the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, Jensyn issued 3,234,501 shares of
Jensyn’s Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”), to the stockholders of the Peck Electric Co. in
exchange for all of the equity securities of Peck Electric Co., and Peck Electric Co. became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Jensyn.
While Jensyn was the surviving legal entity, iSun, Inc. (formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.) was deemed the
acquiring entity for accounting purposes. Concurrent with the completion of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, Jensyn
changed its name from “Jensyn Acquisition Corp.” to “The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.” Unless the context otherwise requires, “we,”
“us,” “our,” “iSun” and the “Company” refer to the combined company.
As a SPAC Jensyn had substantially no business operations prior to June 20, 2019. For financial accounting and reporting purposes
the Exchange Agreement was accounted for as a “reverse recapitalization” in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Under this method of
accounting, Jensyn was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. This determination was primarily based
on Peck Electric Co shareholders having a majority of the voting power of the combined company, Peck Electric Co. comprising the
ongoing operations of the combined entity, Peck Electric Co. comprising a majority of the governing body of the combined company,
and Peck Electric Co.’s senior management comprising the senior management of the combined company. Accordingly, for
accounting purposes, the Exchange Agreement was treated as the equivalent of the Peck Electric Co. issuing stock for the net assets
and equity of Jensyn, consisting of $0 assets, accompanied by a recapitalization (referred to as “the Exchange Agreement”). The net
assets of Jensyn were stated at historical cost, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Exchange
Agreement are those of Peck Electric Co.
Prior to June 20, 2019, Peck Electric Co. was a “pass-through” (S-corporation) entity for income tax purposes and had no material
income tax accounting reflected in its financial statements for financial reporting purposes since taxable income and deductions were
“passed through” to Peck Electric Co.’s stockholders. As of the date of the completion of the Exchange Agreement, Peck Electric
effectively became a C-Corporation, which changed the level of taxation from the stockholders to the Company. The deferred tax
assets and liabilities that arise out of the change of tax status have been recorded to account for the temporary differences that
existed on the date of the resulting in a deferred tax liability of $1,506,362. The financial statements of the Company now account for
income taxes in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income taxes.
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b) Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of iSun, Inc. and its wholly owned operating subsidiary,
Peck Electric Co. All material intercompany transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation of these entities.
c) Emerging Growth Company Status
The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, (the “Securities
Act”), as modified by the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, (the “JOBS Act”). Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts
emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies
(that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) are required to comply with the new or revised financial
accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with
the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has
elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is issued or revised and it has different
application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised
standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard.
The Company would cease to be an “emerging growth company” upon the earliest to occur of: the last day of the fiscal year in which it
has more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue; the date it qualifies as a “large accelerated filer,” with at least $700 million of equity
securities held by non-affiliates; the issuance, in any three-year period, by it of more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt or
December 31, 2021.
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d) Revenue Recognition
The majority of the Company’s revenue arrangements generally consist of a single performance obligation to transfer promised goods
or services.
1) Revenue Recognition Policy
Solar Power Systems Sales and Engineering, Procurement, and Construction Services
The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of solar power systems, Engineering, Procurement and Construction (“EPC”)
services, and other construction type contracts over time, as performance obligations are satisfied, due to the continuous transfer of
control to the customer. Construction contracts, such as the sale of a solar power system combined with EPC services, are generally
accounted for as a single unit of account (a single performance obligation) and are not segmented between types of services. Our
contracts often require significant services to integrate complex activities and equipment into a single deliverable, and are therefore
generally accounted for as a single performance obligation, even when delivering multiple distinct services. For such services, the
Company recognizes revenue using the cost to cost method, based primarily on contract cost incurred to date compared to total
estimated contract cost. The cost to cost method (an input method) is the most faithful depiction of the Company’s performance
because it directly measures the value of the services transferred to the customer. Cost of revenue includes an allocation of indirect
costs including depreciation and amortization. Subcontractor materials, labor and equipment, are included in revenue and cost of
revenue when management believes that the Company is acting as a principal rather than as an agent (i.e., the Company integrates
the materials, labor and equipment into the deliverables promised to the customer). Changes to total estimated contract cost or losses,
if any, are recognized in the period in which they are determined as assessed at the contract level. Pre-contract costs are expensed as
incurred unless they are expected to be recovered from the customer. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had $0 in
pre-contract costs classified as a current asset under contract assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Project mobilization costs
are generally charged to project costs as incurred when they are an integrated part of the performance obligation being transferred to
the client. Customer payments on construction contracts are typically due within 30 to 45 days of billing, depending on the contract.
Sales and other taxes the Company collects concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from revenue.
For sales of solar power systems in which the Company sells a controlling interest in the project to a customer, revenue is recognized
for the consideration received when control of the underlying project is transferred to the customer. Revenue may also be recognized
for the sale of a solar power system after it has been completed due to the timing of when a sales contract has been entered into with
the customer.
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Energy Generation
Revenue from net metering credits is recorded as electricity is generated from the solar arrays and billed to customers (PPA off-taker)
at the price rate stated in the applicable power purchase agreement (PPA).
Operation and Maintenance and Other Miscellaneous Services
Revenue for time and materials contracts is recognized as the service is provided.
2) Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The following table disaggregates the Company’s revenue based on the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations for the years
ended December 31:
Solar Operations
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time
Performance obligations satisfied over time

Electric Operations
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time
Performance obligations satisfied over time

Data and Network Operations
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time
Performance obligations satisfied over time

Total
Performance obligations satisfied at a point in time
Performance obligations satisfied over time
Total

2020

2019

$
$ 17,354,852
$ 17,354,852

$ 4,220,000
$ 17,849,945
$ 22,069,945

$
$ 2,459,373
$ 2,459,373

$
$ 4,962,539
$ 4,962,539

$
$ 1,237,986
$ 1,237,986

$
$ 1,189,085
$ 1,189,085

$
$ 21,052,211
$ 21,052,211

$ 4,220,000
$ 24,001,569
$ 28,221,569

3) Variable Consideration
The nature of the Company’s contracts gives rise to several types of variable consideration, including claims and unpriced change
orders; award and incentive fees; and liquidated damages and penalties. The Company recognizes revenue for variable consideration
when it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur. The Company estimates
the amount of revenue to be recognized on variable consideration using the expected value (i.e., the sum of a probability-weighted
amount) or the most likely amount method, whichever is expected to better predict the amount. Factors considered in determining
whether revenue associated with claims (including change orders in dispute and unapproved change orders in regard to both scope
and price) should be recognized include the following: (a) the contract or other evidence provides a legal basis for the claim, (b)
additional costs were caused by circumstances that were unforeseen at the contract date and not the result of deficiencies in the
Company’s performance, (c) claim-related costs are identifiable and considered reasonable in view of the work performed, and (d)
evidence supporting the claim is objective and verifiable. If the requirements for recognizing revenue for claims or unapproved change
orders are met, revenue is recorded only when the costs associated with the claims or unapproved change orders have been
incurred. Back charges to suppliers or subcontractors are recognized as a reduction of cost when it is determined that recovery of
such cost is probable and the amounts can be reliably estimated. Disputed back charges are recognized when the same requirements
described above for claims accounting have been satisfied.
4) Remaining Performance Obligation
Remaining performance obligations, or backlog, represents the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining
obligations that the Company has not performed under its customer contracts. The Company has elected to use the optional
exemption in ASC 606-10-50-14, which exempts an entity from such disclosures if a performance obligation is part of a contract with
an original expected duration of one year or less.
5) Warranties
The Company generally provides limited workmanship warranties up to five years for work performed under its construction contracts.
The warranty periods typically extend for a limited duration following substantial completion of the Company’s work on a project.
Historically, warranty claims have not resulted in material costs incurred, and any estimated costs for warranties are included in the
individual contract cost estimates for purposes of accounting for long-term contracts.
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e) Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are recorded when invoices are issued and presented on the balance sheet net of the allowance for doubtful
accounts. The allowance, which was $84,000 at December 31, 2020 and $84,000 at December 31, 2019, is estimated based on
historical losses, the existing economic condition, and the financial stability of the Company’s customers. Accounts are written off
against the reserve when they are determined to be uncollectible.
f)

Project Assets

Project assets primarily consist of costs related to solar power projects that are in various stages of development that are capitalized
prior to the completion of the sale of the project, and are actively marketed and intended to be sold. In contrast to contract assets, the
Company holds a controlling interest in the project itself. These project related costs include costs for land, development, and
construction of a PV solar power system. Development costs may include legal, consulting, permitting, transmission upgrade,
interconnection, and other similar costs. The Company typically classifies project assets as noncurrent due to the nature of solar
power projects (long-lived assets) and the time required to complete all activities to develop, construct, and sell projects, which is
typically longer than 12 months. Once the Company enters into a definitive sales agreement, such project assets are classified as
current until the sale is completed and the Company has met all of the criteria to recognize the sale as revenue. Any income
generated by a project while it remains within project assets is accounted for as a reduction to the basis in the project. If a project is
completed and begins commercial operation prior to the closing of a sales arrangement, the completed project will remain in project
assets until placed in service. All expenditures related to the development and construction of project assets, whether fully or partially
owned, are presented as a component of cash flows from operating activities. Project assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. A project is considered commercially
viable or recoverable if it is anticipated to be sold for a profit once it is either fully developed or fully constructed. A partially developed
or partially constructed project is considered to be commercially viable or recoverable if the anticipated selling price is higher than the
carrying value of the related project assets. The Company examines a number of factors to determine if the project is expected to be
recoverable, including whether there are any changes in environmental, permitting, market pricing, regulatory, or other conditions that
may impact the project. Such changes could cause the costs of the project to increase or the selling price of the project to decrease. If
a project is not considered recoverable, we impair the respective project assets and adjust the carrying value to the estimated fair
value, with the resulting impairment recorded within “Selling, general and administrative” expense.
Project Asset were $0 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
g) Property and Equipment
Property and equipment greater than $1,000 are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Cost includes the price paid to
acquire or construct the assets, required installation costs, and any expenditures that substantially add to the value or substantially
extend the useful life of the assets.
The solar arrays represent project assets that the Company may temporarily own and operate after being placed into service. The
Company reports solar arrays at cost, less accumulated depreciation. The Company begins depreciation on the solar arrays when
they are placed in service.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives are
as follows:
Buildings and improvements
Vehicles
Tools and equipment
Solar arrays

39 years
3-5 years
3-7 years
20 years

Total depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $585,690 and $621,233, respectively.
The cost of assets sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, and the related allowance for depreciation are eliminated from the accounts
and any resulting gain or loss is included in operations. The cost of maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred,
while significant renewals or betterments are capitalized.
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h) Long-Lived Assets
The Company assesses long-lived assets, including property and equipment, for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances arise, including consideration of technological obsolescence, that may indicate that the carrying amount of such assets
may not be recoverable. These events and changes in circumstances may include a significant decrease in the market price of a longlived asset; a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset is being used or in its physical condition;
a significant adverse change in the business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset; an accumulation of costs
significantly in excess of the amount originally expected for the acquisition or construction of a long-lived asset; a current period
operating or cash flow loss combined with a history of such losses or a projection of future losses associated with the use of a longlived asset; or a current expectation that, more likely than not, a long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of significantly
before the end of its previously estimated useful life. For purposes of recognition and measurement of an impairment loss, long-lived
assets are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the
cash flows of other assets and liabilities.
When impairment indicators are present, the Company compares undiscounted future cash flows, including the eventual disposition of
the asset group at market value, to the asset group’s carrying value to determine if the asset group is recoverable. If the carrying
value of the asset group exceeds the undiscounted future cash flows, the Company measures any impairment by comparing the fair
value of the asset group to its carrying value. Fair value is generally determined by considering (i) internally developed discounted
cash flows for the asset group, (ii) third-party valuations, and/or (iii) information available regarding the current market value for such
assets.
If the fair value of an asset group is determined to be less than its carrying value, an impairment in the amount of the difference is
recorded in the period that the impairment indicator occurs. Estimating future cash flows requires significant judgment, and such
projections may vary from the cash flows eventually realized.
The Company considers a long-lived asset to be abandoned after the Company has ceased use of such asset and they have no intent
to use or repurpose the asset in the future. Abandoned long-lived assets are recorded at their salvage value, if any.
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i)

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company develops, constructs, and operates certain solar arrays with land lease agreements that include a requirement for the
removal of the assets at the end of the term of the agreement. The Company recognizes such asset retirement obligations (“ARO”) in
the period in which they are incurred based on the present value of estimated third-party recommissioning costs, and they capitalize
the associated asset retirement costs as part of the carrying amount of the related assets. Once an asset is placed into service, the
asset retirement cost is subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. Changes in AROs
resulting from the passage of time are recognized as an increase in the carrying amount of the liability and as accretion expense. The
AROs were not deemed significant to the financial statements and were therefore, not recorded as a liability at December 31, 2020
and 2019.
j)

Concentration and Credit Risks

The Company occasionally has cash balances in a single financial institution during the year in excess of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limit of up to $250,000 per financial institution. The differences between book and bank balances are
outstanding checks and deposits in transit. At December 31, 2020, the uninsured balances were approximately $422,000.
k) Income Taxes
Through June 20, 2019 (the date of the completion of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization) the former Peck Electric had elected
to be taxed as an S-Corporation under the Internal Revenue Code and similar codes in states in which the Company was subject to
taxation. While this election was in effect, the income (whether distributed or not) was taxed for federal income tax purposes to former
Peck Electric stockholders. Accordingly, no provision for federal income tax was required. However, the Company did calculate a
proforma provision. The provision for income taxes for former Peck Electric was primarily for Vermont minimum taxes. As of the date
of the completion of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, the Company effectively became a C-Corporation, which changed the
level of taxation from the stockholders to the Company. The deferred tax assets and liabilities that arise out of the change of tax status
have been recorded to account for the temporary differences that existed on the date of the change resulting in a deferred tax liability
of $1,506,362. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the deferred tax liability was $610,558 and $1,098,481, respectively.
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The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and
liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be
applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Deferred income tax expense represents the change during the period in the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Deferred
tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The financial statements of the Company account for deferred tax assets and liabilities
in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income taxes.
The Company also uses a more-likely-than-not measurement for all tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return in
order for those tax positions to be recognized in the financial statements. If the Company were to incur interest and penalties related to
income taxes, these would be included in the provision for income taxes. Generally, the three tax years previously filed remain subject
to examination by federal and state tax authorities.
l)

Sales Tax

The Company’s accounting policy is to exclude state sales tax collected and remitted from revenues and costs of sales, respectively.
m) Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses during the reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the
Company evaluates their estimates, including those related to inputs used to recognize revenue over time, investments, impairment
on investments and valuation of deferred tax assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
n) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Prior to June 20, 2019, the Company was defined as a non-public entity for purposes of applying transition guidance related to new or
revised accounting standards under GAAP and was required to adopt new or revised accounting standards after the required adoption
dates that applied to public companies. Subsequent to June 20, 2019, the Company maintains its emerging growth company status
until no later than December 31, 2021. The Company will maintain the election available to an emerging growth company to use any
extended transition period applicable to non-public companies when complying with a new or revised accounting standard. The
Company retains its emerging growth status and therefore elects to adopt new or revised accounting standards on the adoption date
required for a private company.
In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-Equity Method and
Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815). This ASU clarifies the interaction among accounting standards
for equity securities, equity method investments and certain derivatives. We are currently assessing the provisions of this guidance to
determine whether or not its adoption will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. This
guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 with early adoption permitted. We are currently assessing the
provisions of this guidance to determine whether or not its adoption will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt — Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging — Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts
in an Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies accounting for convertible instruments by removing major separation models required under
current U.S. GAAP. The ASU removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative
scope exception and it also simplifies the diluted earnings per share calculation in certain areas. The ASU is effective for public
companies, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2020 and adoption must be as of the beginning of the Company’s annual fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of this standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In September 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-09, Debt (Topic 470). This ASU amends SEC paragraphs pursuant to SEC
release No. 33-10762. We are currently assessing the provisions of this guidance to determine whether or not its adoption will have an
impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. This guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2021 with early adoption permitted.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) , to increase transparency and comparability among
organizations by recognizing a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12
months. Leases will be classified as either operating or financing, with such classifications affecting the pattern of expense recognition
in the income statement. ASU 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and early adoption is permitted.
This standard is effective for the Company’s annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2021. We are currently assessing
the provisions of this guidance to determine whether or not its adoption will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.
In June 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-05, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) and Leases (Topic 842), to
provide a one-year deferral of the effective dates. We are adopting the deferral and currently assessing the provisions of this guidance
to determine whether or not its adoption will have an impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2016 the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit losses (Topic 326) . This new guidance will change
how entities account for credit impairment for trade and other receivables, as well as for certain financial assets and other instruments.
The update will replace the current incurred loss model with an expected loss model. Under the incurred loss model, a loss (or
allowance) is recognized only when an event has occurred (such as a payment delinquency) that causes the entity to believe that a
loss is probable (that is has been “incurred”). Under the expected loss model, a loss (or allowance) is recognized upon initial
recognitions of the asset that reflects all future events that leads to a loss being realized, regardless of whether it is probable that the
future event will occur. The incurred loss model considers past events and conditions, while the expected loss model includes
expectations for the future which have yet to occur. ASU 2018-19 was issued in November 2018 and excludes operating leases from
the new guidance. The standard will require entities to record a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning
of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. As an Emerging Growth Company, the standard is effective for the
Company’s 2021 annual reporting period and interim periods beginning first quarter of 2022. The Company is evaluating the impact of
ASU 2016-13 will have on its consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740). This ASU reduces the complexity over accounting
for income taxes by removing certain exceptions and amending guidance to improve consistent application of accounting over income
taxes. We are currently assessing the provision of this guidance to determine whether or not its adoption will have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU No. 2019-12 will
have on its consolidated financial statements.
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o) Deferred Finance Costs
Deferred financing costs relate to the Company’s debt and equity instruments. Deferred financing costs relating to debt instruments
are amortized over the terms of the related instrument using the effective interest method. The Company incurred $0 and $21,547 of
deferred financing costs during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, in connection with a refinance of its
revolving line of credit. Amortization expense associated with deferred financing costs, which is included in interest expense, totaled
$3,073 and $1,544 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Debt financing costs relating to the equity credit
line were offset against additional paid in capital as the shares issued were fully earned on the execution of the agreement. The
Company incurred $0 and $413,032 of deferred financing costs that was recorded to additional paid in capital for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
p) Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company’s financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, cash collateral deposited with
insurance carriers, deferred compensation plan liabilities, accounts payable and other current liabilities, and debt obligations.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or the amount paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
The fair value guidance establishes a valuation hierarchy, which requires maximizing the use of observable inputs when measuring
fair value. The three levels of inputs that may be used are: (i) Level 1 - quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities; (ii) Level 2 - observable market-based inputs or other observable inputs; and (iii) Level 3 - significant unobservable inputs
that cannot be corroborated by observable market data, which are generally determined using valuation models incorporating
management estimates of market participant assumptions. In instances in which the inputs used to measure fair value fall into
different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the fair value measurement classification is determined based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. Management’s assessment of the significance of a particular item to the fair
value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, including the consideration of inputs specific to the asset or liability.
Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using public market prices, quotes from financial institutions and other available
information. Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and other current
liabilities approximate their fair values. Management believes the carrying values of notes and other receivables, cash collateral
deposited with insurance carriers, and outstanding balances on its line of credit and long-term debt approximate their fair values as
these amounts are estimated using public market prices, quotes from financial institutions and other available information.
At December 31, 2019, the earnout provision of the Share Exchange was considered a Level 3 measurement. Given that the earnout
provision was not met, it is no longer considered a Level 3 investment at December 31, 2020. The Company determined that it was
unlikely that the earnout provision would be met, therefore no value was assigned.
q) Debt Extinguishment
Under ASC 470, debt should be derecognized when the debt is extinguished, in accordance with the guidance in ASC 405-20,
Liabilities: Extinguishments of Liabilities. Under this guidance, debt is extinguished when the debt is paid, or the debtor is legally
released from being the primary obligor by the creditor. On December 1, 2020, the Company received notification from NBT Bank that
the Small Business Administration has approved the forgiveness of the PPP loan in its entirety and as such, the full $1,496,468 has
been recognized in the income statement as a gain upon debt extinguishment for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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r)

Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding the method to allocate resources and assess
performance. The Company currently has one reportable segment with different product offerings for financial reporting purposes,
which represents the Company’s core business.
2.

EXCHANGE AGREEMENT/REVERSE MERGER AND RECAPITALIZATION
As discussed in Note 1, on June 20, 2019, the Company consummated the business combination pursuant to the Reverse Merger
and Recapitalization between Jensyn and Peck Electric Co. The material actions arising from the Exchange Agreement are outlined
below:
a) Exchange of Shares
Upon the closing of the Exchange Agreement, the stockholders of Peck Electric Co. exchanged their shares of capital stock in Peck
Electric Co. for 3,234,501 shares of the Jensyn’s Common Stock (the “Share Exchange”), representing approximately 59% of
Jensyn’s outstanding shares after giving effect to the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization. As a result of the Share Exchange, Peck
Electric became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Upon the closing of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization and after giving effect to the issuances of Common Stock and the
conversion of 4,194,500 rights to purchase Common Stock into 419,450 shares of Common Stock. In addition, 1,819,482 shares of
the Company were issued to Jensyn shareholders upon the closing of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization. The Company also
redeemed a total of 492,037 shares of its Common Stock pursuant to the terms of the Company’s Second Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation resulting in a total payment to redeeming stockholders of $5,510,814.
i. warrants exercisable for 2,097,250 shares of Common Stock, consisting of 3,900,000 warrants originally sold as part of units in
Jensyn’s initial public offering (the “IPO”) and 294,500 warrants sold as part of the units issued in a private placement
simultaneously with the consummation of the Jensyn IPO. Each warrant entitles its holder to purchase one-half of one share of
Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per half share ($11.50 per whole share)
ii. warrants exercisable for 195,000 shares of Common Stock, consisting of 390,000 private warrants originally sold as part of Firm
Units in the IPO. Each warrant entitled its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75
per half share ($11.50 per whole share).
iii. Purchase option for 390,000 Units was originally sold as part of the IPO. Each Unit has an exercise price of $12.00 per Unit
and consists of the following:
o
o
o

One share of Common Stock
One right to receive one-tenth (1/10) of a share of Common Stock issued upon exercise of the Unit
One warrant entitling its holder to purchase one-half of one share of Common Stock at an exercise price of $5.75 per
half share ($11.50 per whole share).

b) Earnout
The Exchange Agreement contained a provision that if certain conditions were met by June 30, 2020, the end of the Earnout Period,
the Company would issue 898,473 shares of Common Stock to the original Peck Electric Co. stockholders, issue 11,231 shares of
Common Stock to Exit Strategy Partners, LLC, and issue shares of Common Stock to certain of the initial stockholders of the
Company a number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock equal to the number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock
forfeited and canceled by such stockholders to the extent that such shares are used to satisfy Company obligations or to induce
investors to make an equity investment in the Company at or prior to the Closing as described below under “Issuance of Additional
Shares and Forfeiture of Sponsor Shares.” The Board of Directors of the Company established a Special Committee of the Board of
Directors to determine whether the conditions were met. Based on the findings of the Special Committee, the Board of Directors has
determined that the conditions were not met. Accordingly, no shares were issued pursuant to this provision.
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c) Issuance of Additional Shares and Forfeiture of Sponsor Shares
In connection with the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization arising out of the Exchange Agreement, the Company issued 493,299
shares of Common Stock in exchange for the cancellation of approximately $5,618,675 of obligations and, as contemplated by the
Exchange Agreement, certain insiders and their transferees agreed to forfeit and cancel 281,758 shares of Common Stock. As of
December 31, 2019, 257,799 shares of Common Stock were forfeited. No new shares will be issued as the earnout provisions of
Exchange Agreement were not met by June 30, 2020, the end of the Earnout Period. The remaining 23,959 shares of Common Stock
are pending forfeiture and cancellation as of December 31, 2020.
3.

EXCHANGE AND SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

The Company entered into an Exchange and Subscription Agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) dated April 22, 2020 with GreenSeed
Investors, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“GSI”), and Solar Project Partners, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“SPP”).
The primary purpose of GSI is to facilitate the green bond platform and provide capital for the acquisition of solar projects by SPP. The
investment in GSI provides access to early stage financing to support the Company’s EPC operations while establishing a large pipeline of
projects. The investment in SPP provides the Company with the opportunity to retain a long-term ownership in the completed solar
projects. As such, the Company recorded the investments as long-term other assets.
Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, the Company subscribed for 500,000 Units of Class B Preferred Membership units of GSI in
exchange for 200,000 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Shares”). In addition to the investment of
Preferred Shares by the Company, GSI obtain additional capital contributions which valued the Units at $10.00 per Unit. As the Company
acquired 500,000 Units, the market transactions were utilized as a Level 1 fair value instruments in determining the valuation of the
investment. As of April 22, 2020, the fair value of the investment in GSI was $5,000,000. Separately, the Company subscribed for and
purchased 100,000 Units of SPP in exchange for the issuance by the Company of a Warrant to acquire 275,000 shares of the Company’s
Common Stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share. As of December 31, 2020, the fair value of the warrants was $96,052. The key
assumptions used in the valuation of the warrants were as follows; a) volatility of 71.36%, b) term of 5 years, c) risk free rate of 0.36% and
d) a dividend yield of 0%.
The Exchange Agreement provides that as long as the dividend payment on the Preferred Shares in each calendar quarter is equal to the
aggregate distribution with respect to the GSI Units, such payments and distributions shall be offset and neither GSI nor the Company
need to make any cash payments to the other. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company received a return of capital from
GSI in the amount of $275,556 which offset the dividends payable in accordance with the operating agreement between the Company and
GSI.
The Company granted to GSI the right to repurchase up to 400,000 (in tranches of 50,000) of the Units at a valuation of $10.00 per Unit
totaling $4,000,000.
The Company granted to GSI registration rights with respect to the Preferred Shares, the Warrant, and the Common Stock underlying the
Warrant.
The GSI and SPP investments are measured at cost, less impairment, if any, plus or minus changes resulting from observable price
changes in ordinary transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same issuer. As the Company does not have significant
influence over operating or financial policies of GSI and SPP, the cost method of accounting for the investment was determined to be
appropriate. Changes in the fair value of the investment are recorded as net appreciation in fair value of investment in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations. At December 31, 2020, the equity investment for GSI and SPP was $4,724,444 and $96,052, respectively. No
net appreciation or depreciation in fair value of the investments was recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020, as there were
no observable price changes.
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December
31,
2020
Initial value as of April 22, 2020
Return of capital
Total
55

December 31,
2019

$ 5,000,000 $
(275,556)

-

$ 4,724,444 $

-
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4.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

In 2020, the Company experienced a net operating loss but positive cash flow from operations. At December 31, 2020, the Company had
balances of cash of $699,154 working capital of $242,865 and total stockholders’ equity of $9,006,682. To date, the Company has relied
predominantly on operating cash flow to fund its operations and borrowings from its credit facilities.
The Company does not expect to continue to incur losses from operations as the net operating loss was a result of the negative impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The Company’s operations were delayed for approximately six months of the year ended December 31, 2020,
which resulted in an overall reduction in revenue.
On January 8, 2021 we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with two institutional investors providing for the issuance and sale
by the Company of an aggregate 840,000 shares of our Common Stock in a registered direct offering at a purchase price of $12.50 per
Share for gross proceeds of approximately $10.5 million before deducting fees and offering expenses. The Company’s Form S-3
Registration Statement is effective and allows the Company to offer, issue and sell up to $50,000,000 in the aggregate of our shares of
Common Stock. After the registered direct offering, the Company has approximately $39.5 million available under the shelf registration.
Under the terms of the equity line of credit, Lincoln Park Capital is required to purchase shares up to a total value of $15,000,000 pursuant
to certain terms and conditions. The Company can require the purchase of 50,000 shares of Common Stock under a regular purchase. On
the next day following a regular purchase, the Company can require the purchase of an accelerated purchase equal to 200% of the shares
sold in the regular purchase as well as an additional accelerated purchase equal to 300% of the shares sold in the regular purchase. The
total number of shares authorized under the Purchase Agreement total 3,024,194 which would allow the Company to maximize the equity
line of credit within 10 business days.
On various dates from January 1, 2021 through March 12, 2021, certain holders of the Company’s Public Warrants exercised the right to
convert the warrants into shares of Common Stock. As of March 12, 2021, a total of 2,598,902 Public Warrants were submitted for
exercise resulting in an issuance of 1,299,451 with net proceeds of $14,943,687 being received by the Company. Subsequent to the
conversion of the warrants, the Company has approximately $22 million in cash availability.
The Company believes its current cash on hand, proceeds generated from the registered direct offering, the availability under the equity
line of credits, the collectability of its accounts receivable and project backlog are sufficient to meet its operating and capital requirements
for at least the next twelve months from the date these financial statements are issued.
5.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
Accounts receivable consist of:
December
31,
2020
Accounts receivable - contracts in progress
Accounts receivable - retainage

$

6,206,760 $
93,197
6,299,957
(84,000)

7,190,412
188,193
7,378,605
(84,000)

$

6,215,957

7,294,605

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Total

December 31,
2019

$

Bad debt expense was $164,292 and $69,000 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Contract assets represent revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed, unbilled receivables, and retainage. Unbilled receivables
represent an unconditional right to payment subject only to the passage of time, which are reclassified to accounts receivable when
they are billed under the terms of the contract. Contract assets were as follows at December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December
31,
2020
Costs in excess of billings
Unbilled receivables, included in costs in excess of billings

$

216,261
1,138,341
1,354,602
93,197
$ 1,447,799

Retainage

December
31,
2019
$

$

1,066,159
206,213
1,272,372
188,193
1,460,565

Contract liabilities represent amounts billed to clients in excess of revenue recognized to date, billings in excess of costs, and
retainage. The Company anticipates that substantially all incurred cost associated with contract assets as of December 31, 2020 will
be billed and collected within one year. Contract liabilities were as follows at December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December
31,
2020
Billings in excess of costs
6.

$ 1,140,125

December
31,
2019
$

126,026

CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS
Information with respect to contracts in progress are as follows:
December
31,
2019

December 31,
2020
Expenditures to date on uncompleted contracts
Estimated earnings thereon

$

Less billings to date
Plus under billings remaining on contracts 100% complete
Total

$

7,764,622 $ 4,699,855
2,178,868
1,409,060
9,943,490
6,108,915
(10,867,354)
(5,168,782)
(923,864)
940,133
1,138,341
206,213
214,477 $

1,146,346

Included in accompany balance sheets under the following captions:
December
31,
2020
Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts
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December
31,
2019

$ 1,354,602 $
(1,140,125)

1,272,372
(126,026)

$

1,146,346

214,477

$
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7.

LONG-TERM DEBT
A summary of long-term debt is as follows:
December
31,
2020
NBT Bank, National Association, 4.25% interest rate, secured by all business assets,
payable in monthly installments of $5,869 through September 2026, with a balloon
payment at maturity.
$

683,268

December
31,
2019

$

723,230

NBT Bank, National Association, 4.00% interest rate, secured by all business assets,
payable in monthly installments of $12,070 through January 2021.

12,050

153,258

NBT Bank, National Association, 4.20% interest rate, secured by building, payable in
monthly installments of $3,293 through September 2026, with a balloon payment at
maturity.

246,135

274,476

NBT Bank, National Association, 4.15% interest rate, secured by all business assets,
payable in monthly installments of $3,677 through April 2026.

210,475

244,920

NBT Bank, National Association, 4.20% interest rate, secured by all business assets,
payable in monthly installments of $5,598 through October 2026, with a balloon payment
at maturity.

426,624

474,464

NBT Bank, National Association, 4.85% interest rate, secured by a piece of equipment,
payable in monthly installments of $2,932 including interest, through May 2023.

80,001

110,413

Various vehicle loans, interest ranging from 0% to 6.99%, total current monthly
installments of approximately $8,150, secured by vehicles, with varying terms through
September 2025.

294,799

333,510

National Bank of Middlebury, 3.95% interest rate for the initial 5 years, after which the
loan rate will adjust equal to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston 5/10 – year
Advance Rate plus 2.75%, loan is subject to a floor rate of 3.95%, secured by solar
panels and related equipment, payable in monthly installments of $2,388 including
interest, through December 2024.

73,467

98,033

2,026,819
(308,394)
1,718,425
(16,930)
$ 1,701,495 $

Less current portion
Less debt issuance costs
Long-term debt
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2,412,304
(426,254)
1,986,050
(20,003)
1,966,047
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Maturities of long-term debt are as follows:
Year ending December 31:

Amount

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

308,394
305,857
265,765
222,606
209,858
714,339

$ 2,026,819
Payroll Protection Loan
On April 24, 2020, the Company entered into a Promissory Note with NBT Bank, N.A. as the lender (“Lender”), pursuant to which the
Lender agreed to make a loan to the Company under the Payroll Protection Program (“PPP Loan”) offered by the U.S. Small Business
Administration (“SBA”) in a principal amount of $1,487,624 pursuant to Title 1 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security
Act (“CARES”).
The PPP Loan proceeds are available to be used to pay for payroll costs, including salaries, commissions, and similar compensation,
group health care benefits, and paid leaves; rent; utilities; and interest on certain other outstanding debt. The amount that will be
forgiven will be calculated in part with reference to the Company’s full-time headcount during the 24-week period following the funding
of the PPP Loan.
On December 1, 2020, the Company received notification from NBT Bank that the Small Business Administration has approved the
forgiveness of the PPP loan in its entirety and as such, the full $1,496,468 has been recognized in the income statement as a gain
upon debt extinguishment for the year ended December 31, 2020.
8.

LINE OF CREDIT
The Company has a working capital line of credit with NBT Bank with a limit of $6,000,000 and a variable interest rate based on the
Wall Street Journal Prime rate, currently 3.25%. The line of credit is payable upon demand and subject to an annual review in
September 2021. The balance outstanding was $2,482,127 and $2,675,041 at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively Borrowing is based on 80% of eligible accounts receivable. The line is secured by all business assets and is subject to
certain financial covenants. These financial covenants consist of a minimum debt service coverage ratio of 1.20 to 1.00 measured on a
quarterly basis. As of December 31, 2020, the Company was not in compliance with the financial covenants but received a waiver of
covenant default from NBT Bank.
The Company had a line of credit with NBT Bank with a limit of $2,000,000 to fund the development of certain solar arrays. The line
had a variable interest rate based on the Wall Street Journal Prime rate, which was 4.75%. The maturity date was September 2020
and this line of credit has been closed. There were no borrowings at December 31, 2020 and the balance was $510,100 at December
31, 2019. The line was secured by all business assets and is subject to certain financial covenants.
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9.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
In 2015, the Company entered into two twenty-five-year non-cancelable lease agreements for land on which they constructed solar
arrays. One lease has fixed annual rent of $2,500. The second lease has annual rent of $2,500 with an annual increase of 2%.
In 2017, the Company entered into a twenty-year non-cancelable lease agreement for land on which it constructed solar arrays. The
lease has annual rent of $3,500 with an annual increase of 2%.
In 2018, the Company entered into a twenty-year non-cancelable lease agreement for land on which it constructed solar arrays. The
lease has annual rent of $26,000.
In 2019, the Company entered into a two-year non-cancelable lease agreement for equipment used in solar installations. The lease
has an annual rent of $45,832.
In 2020, the Company entered into a ten year lease agreement for a new headquarters consisting of approximately 6,250 square feet
of office space and 6,500 square feet of warehouse. The lease has annual rent of $108,162 with an annual increase of 2%.
The Company leases a vehicle under a non-cancelable operating lease. In addition, the Company occasionally pays rent for storage
on a month-to-month basis.
Total rent expense for all of the non-cancelable leases above were $62,021 and $58,605 for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
The Company also rents equipment to be used on jobs under varying terms not exceeding one year. Total rent expense under short
term rental agreements was $228,667 and $384,536 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Future minimum lease payments required under all of the non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:
Year ending December 31:

Amount

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

$

162,363
145,561
147,903
150,291
152,310
1,070,016
1,828,444

10. EQUITY FINANCINGS
On October 12, 2020, the Company received notification that 30,218 warrants issued in connection with the Company’s (Jensyn
Acquisition Corp.) initial public offering were exercised and 15,109 shares of Common Stock were issued in connection with such
exercise resulting in cash proceeds to the Company of $173,751.
On September 26, 2019, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park”),
pursuant to which, upon the terms and subject to the conditions and limitations set further therein, Lincoln Park has committed to
purchase an aggregate of $15.0 million of the Company’s Common Stock from time to time at the sole discretion of the Company. (the
“Purchase Agreement”) As consideration for entering into the Purchase Agreement, the Company issued to Lincoln Park as a
commitment fee (the “Commitment Shares”) 81,263 share of Company Common Stock with a fair value of $4.96. The fair value of the
shares issued was recorded to additional paid in capital at December 31, 2019.
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11. UNION ASSESSMENTS
The Company employs members of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 300 (IBEW). The union fee assessments
payable are both withholdings from employees and employer assessments. Union fees are for monthly dues, defined contribution
pension, health and welfare funds as part of multi-employer plans. All union assessments are based on the number of hours worked or
a percentage of gross wages as stipulated in the agreement with the Union.
The Company has an agreement with the IBEW in respect to rates of pay, hours, benefits, and other employment conditions that
expires May 31, 2022. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company incurred the following union
assessments.
December
31,
2020
Pension fund
Welfare fund
National employees benefit fund
Joint apprenticeship and training committee
401(k) matching
Total

$

310,023
971,720
90,993
20,233
43,998
$ 1,436,967

December
31,
2019
$

$

374,020
1,192,831
131,982
17,829
38,521
1,755,183

Multiemployer Plans
The Company is party to collective bargaining agreements with unions representing certain of their employees, which require the
Company to pay specified wages, provide certain benefits to their union employees and contribute certain amounts to Multi-Employer
Pension Plans (“MEPP”). The Pension Plan Agreement (“PPA”) defines the funding rules for defined benefit pension plans and
establishes funding classifications for U.S.-registered multiemployer pension plans. Under the PPA, plans are classified into one of the
following five categories, based on multiple factors, also referred to as a plan’s “zone status”: Green (safe), Yellow (endangered),
Orange (seriously endangered), and Red (critical or critical and declining). Factors included in the determination of a plan’s zone
status include: funded percentage, cash flow position and whether the plan is projecting a minimum funding deficiency.
A multiemployer plan that is so underfunded as to be in “endangered,” “seriously endangered,” “critical,” or “critical and declining”
status (as determined under the PPA) is required to adopt a funding improvement plan (“FIP”) or a rehabilitation plan (“RP”), which,
among other actions, could include decreased benefits and increased employer contributions, which could take the form of a
surcharge on benefit contributions. These actions are intended to improve their funding status over a period of years. If a pension fund
is in critical status, a participating employer must pay an automatic surcharge in addition to contributions otherwise required under the
collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”). With some exceptions, the surcharge is equal to 5% of required contributions for the initial
critical year and 10% for each succeeding plan year in which the plan remains in critical status. The surcharge ceases on the effective
date of a CBA (or other agreement) that includes contribution and benefit terms consistent with the rehabilitation plan. Certain plans in
which the Company participates are in “endangered,” “seriously endangered,” “critical,” or “critical and declining” status. The amount
of additional funds, if any, that the Company may be obligated to contribute to these plans in the future cannot be estimated due to the
uncertainty of the future levels of work that could be required of the union employees covered by these plans, as well as the required
future contribution rates and possible surcharges applicable to these plans.
Details of significant multiemployer pension plans as of and for the periods indicated, based upon information available to the
Company from plan administrators as well as publicly available information on the U.S. Department of Labor website, are provided in
the following table:
Contributions
For the Years Ended
December 31,
Employer
Multiemployer Identification
Pension Plan
Number
National
Electrical
Benefit Fund
53-0181657

Plan
Number

2020
1

90,993

Pension Protection Act Zone
Status
Expiration
Date of
CBA
2020

2019

As of

2019

As of

131,982 5/31/2022 Green 12/31/2020 Green 12/31/2019

FIP/RP
Status Surcharge
NA

No

12. PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
In connection with the closing of the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, the Company’s tax status changed from an S-corporation
to a C-corporation. As a result, the Company is responsible for Federal and State income taxes and must record deferred tax assets
and liabilities for the tax effects of any temporary differences that exist on the date of the change. When push down accounting does
not apply as part of a business combination, U.S. GAAP requires the effect of the change in tax status to be recognized in the financial
statements and the effect is included in income (loss) from continuing operations. The Company recorded deferred income tax
expense and a corresponding deferred tax liability of $1,098,481 as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of which
$1,506,362 was recorded at the time of conversion to a C-corporation (see note 1 (k) income taxes). For the year ended December
31, 2020 the Company recorded deferred income tax benefit of $487,923 and had a net deferred tax liability of $610,558.
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The Reverse Merger and Recapitalization between Jensyn and Peck Electric Co. on June 20, 2019 caused a stock ownership change
for purposes of Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company recognized tax net operating losses which it expects to fully
utilize over time subject to annual limitations as set forth in the Internal Revenue Code.
The provision for income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 consists of the following:
2020
Current
Federal
State

$

Total Current
Deferred
Federal
State
Total Deferred
(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes

2019
- $
750

6,359

750

6,359

(369,705)
(118,218)

751,432
347,049

$

(487,923)

1,098,481

$

(487,173) $

1,104,840

The Company’s total deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2020 are as follows:
2020
Deferred tax assets (liabilities)
Accruals and reserves
Net operating loss
Total deferred tax assets

$

Property and equipment
Total deferred tax liabilities

23,758
812,996
836,754

2019
$

(1,447,312)
(1,447,312)

Net deferred tax asset (liabilities)

$

4,157
421,940
426,097
(1,524,578)
(1,524,578)

(610,558) $ (1,098,481)

The Company uses a more-likely-than-not measurement for all tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return in order for
those tax positions to be recognized in the financial statements. There were no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020 and
2019. If the Company were to incur interest and penalties related to income taxes, these would be included in the provision for income
taxes, there were none for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 respectively. Generally, the three tax years previously filed
remain subject to examination by federal and state tax authorities. The Company does not expect a material change in uncertain tax
positions to occur within the next 12 months.
Reconciliation between the effective tax on income from operations and the statutory tax rate is as follows:
Income tax expense at federal statutory rate
Federal taxes on period Company was a flow through entity
Paycheck Protection Program tax exempt loan forgiveness
Permanent differences
Deferred tax expense recorded upon conversion to C-Corp
Other adjustments
State and local taxes net of federal benefit

$

$

Income tax expense
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2020
(103,215) $
(412,295)
44,816
15,726
(32,205)
(487,173) $

2019
142,179
(220,005)
2,049
1,134,772
45,845
1,104,840
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The Company received a loan under the CARES Act Payroll Protection Program (“PPP”) of $1,487,624. Proceeds from the loan were
used to cover documented expenses related to payroll, rent and utilities, during the 24-week period, subsequent to the cash being
received by the Company, are eligible to be forgiven. The “PPP” loan was forgiven in its entirety and the income is deemed to be nontaxable which results in the Company’s effective tax rate differing from the statutory rate.
The Company has federal net operating losses of approximately $3,100,000 of which $1,138,000 will expire beginning in 2034,
$1,962,000 of the net operating losses do not expire. Net operating losses incurred beginning in 2018 are not subject to expiration
under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, but the annual usage is limited to 80% or pre net operating loss taxable income. We believe that it is
more likely than not that the tax benefit of these net operating losses will be fully realized, as such no valuation allowance has been
recorded. The deferred tax assets for the net operating losses are presented net with deferred tax liabilities, which primarily consist of
book and tax depreciation differences.
13. CAPTIVE INSURANCE
The Company and other companies are members of an offshore heterogeneous group captive insurance holding company entitled
Navigator Casualty, LTD. (NCL). NCL is located in the Cayman Islands and insures claims relating to workers’ compensation, general
liability, and auto liability coverage.
Premiums are developed through the use of an actuarially determined loss forecast. Premiums paid totaled $189,958 and $189,337
for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The loss funding, derived from the actuarial forecast, is broken-out
into two categories by the actuary known as the “A & B” Funds. The “A” Fund pays for the first $100,000 of any loss and the “B” Fund
contributes to the remainder of the loss layer up to $300,000 total per occurrence.
Each shareholder has equal ownership and invests a one-time cash capitalization of $36,000. This is broken out into two categories,
$35,900 of redeemable preference shares and $100 for a single common share. Each shareholder represents a single and equal vote
on NCL’s Board of Directors.
Summary financial information on NCL as of September 30, 2020 is:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Comprehensive income

$
$
$
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96,020,037
46,176,680
8,820,830
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NCL’s fiscal year end is September 30, 2020.
2020
Investment in NCL
Capital
Cash security
Investment income in excess of losses (incurred and reserves)
Total deferred tax assets

$
$

2019

36,000 $
158,785
3,320
198,105 $

36,000
101,555
3,320
140,875

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In 2014, the minority stockholders of Peck Electric Co., who sold the building that the Company formerly occupied, lent the proceeds
to the majority stockholders of Peck Electric Co. who contributed $400,000 of the net proceeds as paid in capital. At December 31,
2020 and December 31, 2019, the amount owed of $73,000 and $117,605, respectively, is included in the “due to stockholders” as
there is a right to offset.
In May 2018, stockholders of the Company bought out a minority stockholder of Peck Electric Co. The Company advanced $250,000
for the stock purchase which is included in the “due from stockholders”. At December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the amounts
due of $602,463 and $337,000, respectively, are included in the “due to stockholders” as there is a right to offset.
In 2019, the Company’s majority stockholders lent proceeds to the Company to help with cash flow needs. At December 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the amounts owed of $286,964 and $295,299, respectively, are included in the “due to stockholders” as there is a
right to offset.
The Company was an S-corporation through June 20, 2019 and as a result, the taxable income of the Company is reported on each
stockholder’s tax returns and each stockholder are taxed individually. As a result, the Company has accrued a distribution for taxes of
$266,814 at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, to the former stockholders of Peck Electric Co. for the period
during which the Company was an S-corporation, which is included in the “due to stockholders” value below.
The amounts below include amounts due to/from stockholders as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019:
December
31,
2020
Due to stockholders consists of unsecured notes to stockholders with interest at the midterm AFR rate (2.08% at December 31, 2020).
$
64

24,315

December
31,
2019
$

342,718
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15. DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
In 2018, the Company entered into a deferred compensation agreement with a former minority stockholder. The agreement provides
for deferred income benefits and is payable over the post-retirement period. The Company accrues the present value of the estimated
future benefit payments over the period from the date of the agreement to the retirement date. The minimum commitment for future
compensation under the agreement is $155,000, the net present value of which is $91,187. The Company will also pay the former
stockholder a solar management fee of 24.5% of the available cash flow from the solar arrays put into service on or before December
31, 2017 over the life of the arrays. The amount is de minimis and therefore not recorded on the balance sheet as of December 31,
2020 and 2019 and recorded in the statement of operations when incurred.
16. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period, excluding the effects of any potentially dilutive securities.
Diluted EPS gives effect to the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised
or converted into Common Stock.
As a result of the Merger and Recapitalization, the Company has retrospectively adjusted the weighted average of shares of Common
Stock outstanding prior to June 20, 2019 by multiplying such shares by the exchange ratio used to determine the number of shares of
Common Stock into which they converted.
Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Numerator:
Net loss
Net income applicable to preferred shareholders
Net loss available to common stock shareholders

$

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

(4,328) $
(275,556)
(279,884)

5,301,471
5,301,471

Basic income (loss) per share
Diluted income (loss) per share

(0.05)
(0.05)

(427,795)
(427,795)

4,447,681
4,447,681
(0.10)
(0.10)

The Company has contingent share arrangements and warrants arising from the Reverse Merger and Recapitalization, Jensyn’s IPO
discussed in Note 2 and the Exchange and Subscription Agreement discussed in Note 3. The potential issuance of additional shares
of Common Stock from these arrangements were excluded from the diluted EPS calculation because the prevailing market and
operating conditions at the present time do not indicate that any additional shares of Common Stock will be issued. These instruments
could result in dilution in future periods. As of December 31, 2020, the earnout shares were forfeited. Below is a schedule of the
potential share issuances arising from these contingencies that were excluded from the calculations above:
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Years Ended December 31,
2020
2019
Earnout provision, includes new shares of Common Stock that may be issued to former
Peck Electric Co. shareholders
Earnout provision, includes new shares of Common Stock that may be issued to Exit
Strategy
Earnout provision, including new shares of Common Stock that may be issued to holders
of forfeited and canceled shares
Option to purchase Common Stock, from Jensyn’s IPO
Warrants to purchase Common Stock, from Jensyn’s IPO
Warrants to purchase Common Stock, from Solar Project Partners, LLC. Exchange and
Subscription Agreement
Conversion of Preferred Stock to Common Stock from GreenSeed Investors, LLC
Exchange and Subscription Agreement

-

898,473

-

11,231

429,000
2,277,141

257,799
429,000
2,292,250

275,000

-

370,370

-

17. PREFERRED STOCK
The Company has authorized and designated 200,000 shares of convertible preferred stock (the “Preferred Stock”). Pursuant to the
Exchange Agreement, the Company subscribed for 500,000 Units of Class B Preferred Membership units of GSI in exchange for 200,000
shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Shares”). In addition, the Company subscribed for and purchased
100,000 Units of SPP in exchange for the issuance by the Company of a Warrant to acquire 275,000 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock at an exercise price of $15.00 per share.
The Exchange Agreement provides that as long as the dividend payment on the Preferred Shares in each calendar quarter is equal to the
aggregate distribution with respect to the GSI Units, such payments and distributions shall be offset and neither GSI nor the Company
need to make any cash payments to the other.
The Company granted to GSI the right to repurchase up to 400,000 (in tranches of 50,000) of the Units at a valuation of $4,000,000.
The Company granted to GSI registration rights with respect to the Preferred Shares, the Warrant, and the Common Stock underlying the
Warrant.
The Preferred Stock has the following rights and privileges:
Voting – The holders of the Preferred Stock is not entitled to voting rights.
Conversion – Each share of Preferred Stock, is convertible at the option of the holder into 1.85185 shares of Common Stock.
The outstanding shares of Preferred Stock automatically convert into Common Stock upon the occurrence of (i) the trading of
the shares of Common Stock is equal to or greater than $15.00 per share for any 20 days in a 30 day trading period, or (ii) when
there is a change in control and the holder would receive consideration equal to or greater than the preferred liquidation
preferences.
Dividends – The holders of the Preferred Stock in preference to the holders of Common Stock, are entitled to receive, if and
when declared by the Board of Directors, dividends at the rate of $2.00 per share per annum.
Liquidation – In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, winding-up or sale or merger of the Company, whether voluntarily or
involuntarily, each holder of Preferred Stock is entitled to receive, in preference to the holders of Common Stock, a per-share
amount equal to the original issue price of $25.00 (as adjusted, as defined), plus all declared but unpaid dividends.
Redemption – The Company may redeem any or all of the shares at any time by paying in cash $27.50 per share plus any
accrued and unpaid dividends solely at the Company’s option.
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18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Company evaluated subsequent events and transactions that occurred after the balance sheet date up to the date that the financial
statements were issued. Other than as described below, the Company did not identify any subsequent events that would have required
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.
Registered Direct Offering
On January 8, 2021 we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with two institutional investors providing for the issuance and sale
by the Company of an aggregate 840,000 shares of our Common Stock in a registered direct offering at a purchase price of $12.50 per
Share for gross proceeds of approximately $10.5 million before deducting fees and offering expenses.
Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization
On January 19, 2021, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization with iSun Energy LLC. iSun
Energy LLC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. iSun Energy, LLC is a provider of products and services designed to
support the electric vehicle market. In connection with Merger, Sassoon Peress, the sole member, will receive 400,000 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock over five years, 200,000 shares of which were issued at the closing, warrants to purchase up 200,000 shares
of the Company’s Common Stock, and up to 240,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock based on certain performance milestones.
The Company has issued an aggregate of 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock in connection with the Merger as the
provisions of the Warrant with respect to 100,000 shares of Common Stock have been met.
Exercise of Public Warrants
On various dates from January 1, 2021 through March 12, 2021, certain holders of the Company’s Public Warrants exercised the Public
Warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock. As of March 12, 2021, a total of 2,598,902 Public Warrants were exercised resulting in an
issuance of 1,299,451 shares of Common Stock with net proceeds of $14,943,687 being received by the Company. At March 12, 2021,
the number of Public Warrants available to exercise totaled 1,565,380.
Equity Incentive Program
On February 25, 2021, the Company held a Special Meeting of Stockholders (the “Special Meeting’) to approve the Company’s 2020
Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “Plan”) The Company had previously provided Notice of the Special Meeting and a Proxy
Statement dated February 2, 2021. The plan allows the Company to grant stock awards and options based on certain annual revenue and
EBITDA targets. The Company has issued 129,414 shares of Common Stock under the provisions of the Plan.
Conversion of Preferred Shares
On February 22, 2021, the Board of Directors of iSun, Inc. (the “Company”) and the holders of a majority of the Company’s Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, approved the First Amended and Restated Certificate of Designation of Preferred Stock of iSun Inc. Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (the “First Amended Certificate of Designation”) that amends and replaces in its entirety the Certificate of
Designation of Preferred Stock of iSun Inc. Series A Convertible Preferred Stock dated April 28, 2020. The First Amended Certificate of
Designation was filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on February 22, 2021.
The First Amended Certificate of Designation designates two hundred thousand (200,000) shares of the Company’s authorized preferred
share capital as Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series A”) and provides for certain preferences to holders of Series A. The
Series A is convertible on a mandatory basis into shares of the Company’s Common Stock as soon as practicable after the date on which
the closing price of the Company’s Common Stock is equal to or greater than $15.00 per share for any twenty (20) days within a thirty (30)
days trading window. The Series A conversion rate is 1.851852. Pursuant to the First Amended Certificate of Designation, on February 22,
2021 the Company notified all holders of the Series A of the mandatory conversion of the Series A. A total of 370,370 shares of Common
Stock have been issued pursuant to the conversion.
Exercise of Warrant
On February 9, 2021, the Company issued 117,376 shares of Common Stock in connection with a warrant issued to GreenSeed Investors,
LLC. The warrant was exercised on a cashless basis with net shares issued based on the Warrant.
Exercise of the Unit Purchase Option
On January 25, 2021, a certain holder exercised the right to convert 292,500 units into 133,684 shares of Common Stock on a cashless
basis.
Stock Redemption
On January 25, 2021, the Company purchased 34,190 shares of Common Stock from certain executives at $19.68, which was the 5-day
average of the closing prices for the Common Stock as reported by the Nasdaq Capital Market for the five trading days immediately
preceding January 22, 2021, for a total of approximately $675,000.
67

Table of Contents

Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure .

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and
accounting officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2020,
as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Management has determined there is a lack of
supervisory review of the financial statement closing process due to limited resources and formal documentation of procedures and
controls. This control deficiency constitutes a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting. As a result, our principal
executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer have concluded that during the period covered by this report, our disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective. We plan to take steps to remedy this material weakness in with the implementation of an
“Internal Control-Integrated Framework”
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that the information that is required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act
report is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and
accounting officer or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Due to the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of
fraud, if any, have been detected.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).
Management previously identified control deficiencies regarding the need for a stronger internal control environment relating to the
financial statement closing process. In 2020, Management took steps to remediate these control deficiencies including implementing
revised work in process review procedures, enhanced financial reporting reviews processes, and the retention of additional qualified
personnel. Management identified control deficiencies related to segregation of duties and access with the IT environment. Management
continues to enhance the internal control environment but has not completed the implementation and testing of the new and revised
internal controls. Management believes that these control deficiencies constitutes a material weakness in internal control over financial
reporting for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Based upon the criteria established in “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” issued by the COSO, management believes that the
controls currently in place are not adequate. As such, a material weakness existed as of December 31, 2020.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Other than the control improvements discussed in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting above, there was
no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
fiscal fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
No Attestation Report by Independent Registered Accountant
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 has not been audited by our independent
registered public accounting firm by virtue of our exemption from such requirement as a non-accelerated smaller reporting company.
Item 9B. Other Information.
On January 5, 2021 iSun, Inc. (formerly known as The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.), a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), received a
written notice (the “Notice”) from the Listing Qualifications Department of The Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) indicating that the
Company was not in compliance with Listing Rule 5620(a) (the “Annual Meeting Rule”), which required the Company to hold an annual
meeting of shareholders no later than one year after the end of the Company’s fiscal year-end for continued listing on the NASDAQ
Capital Market. The Notice was only a notification of deficiency, not of imminent delisting, and had no current effect on the listing or trading
of the Company’s securities on the NASDAQ Capital Market.
The Notice stated that the Company had 45 calendar days to submit a plan to regain compliance with the Annual Meeting Rule. The
Company submitted a plan to regain compliance with the Annual Meeting Rule on February 22, 2021 by Letter dated February 22, 2021
from Merritt & Merritt to Ms. Una Hahn, Listing Analyst. By Letter dated February 23, 2021 to Mr. Jeffrey Peck, CEO of the Company,
Nasdaq granted the Company an extension until May 11, 2021 to regain compliance with the Annual Meeting Rule by the Company
holding its 2019 and 2020 Annual Meeting on May 11, 2021, as currently anticipated.
69

Table of Contents

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information about directors required for item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our
2021 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required for this item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2021 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required for this item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2021 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
The information required for this item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2021 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
The information required for this item is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed in connection with our 2021 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(1) Financial Statements.
The financial statements required by item 15 are submitted in a separate section of this report, beginning on Page F-1, incorporated herein
and made a part hereof.
(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required or because the required information is
included in the financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits.
The following exhibits are filed with this report, or incorporated by reference as noted:
(a)
101.INS XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
101.LABXBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
*

Filed herewith.
(b) Exhibits.
See (a)(3) above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules.
See (a)(2) above.

See (a)(2) above.
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Exhibits Index
Exhibit
No.

Description

Included

Form

Filing
Date

1.1

Underwriting Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC, as
representative of the underwriters named on Schedule A thereto.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

1.2

Sales Agreement, dated December 4, 2020, between The Peck
Company Holdings, Inc. and A.G.P./Alliance Global Partners

By Reference

S-3

December 4, 2020

2.1(a)

Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2019, by
and among Jensyn Acquisition Corp., Peck Electric Co. and the
stockholders of Peck Electric Co.

By Reference

8-K

March 1, 2019

2.1(b)

First Amendment to Share Exchange Agreement, dated as of
February 26, 2019, by and among Jensyn Acquisition Corp.,
Peck Electric Co. and the stockholders of Peck Electric Co.

By Reference

8-K

June 3, 2019

2.2

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated as of November
3, 2017 among Jensyn Acquisition Corp., BAE Energy
Management, LLC, Victor Ferreira and Karen Ferreira.

By Reference

8-K

November 9, 2017

2.3

Share Exchange Agreement by and among Jensyn Acquisition
Corp., Oneness Global and the Stockholders of Oneness Global

By Reference

10-Q

August 20, 2018

2.4

Exchange and Subscription Agreement, dated April 22, 2020,
among The Peck Company Holdings, Inc., GreenSeed Investors,
LLC and Solar Project Partners, LLC

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

2.5

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated January 19, 2021, by and
among iSun Energy LLC and iSun, Inc. and Peck Mercury, Inc.

By Reference

8-K

January 25, 2021

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

3.1(a)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation dated March 6, 2018.

By Reference

8-K

March 6, 2018

3.1(b)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation dated June 4, 2018.

By Reference

8-K

June 8, 2018

3.1(c)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation dated August 29, 2018.

By Reference

8-K

September 4, 2018

3.1(d)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation dated January 2, 2019.

By Reference

8-K

January 3, 2019

3.1(e)

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Preferred
Stock of The Peck Company Holdings, Inc.

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020
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3.2

Bylaws.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

4.1

Specimen Unit Certificate.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

4.2

Specimen Common Stock Certificate.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

4.3

Specimen Right Certificate.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

4.4

Specimen Warrant Certificate.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

4.5

Promissory Note, dated September 17, 2019, issued to NBT
Bank, National Association

By Reference

10-Q

November 18, 2019

4.6

Warrant Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

4.7

Unit Purchase Option, dated March 7, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Chardan Capital Markets, LLC.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

4.8

Rights Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

4.9

Warrant, dated April 22, 2020, issued by The Peck Company
Holdings, Inc. to GreenSeed Investors, LLC

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

4.10

Promissory Note, dated January 13, 2020, issued by Peck
Electric Co. to NBT Bank, National Association

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

4.11

Paycheck Protection Program Note and Disbursement
Authorization, dated April 24, 2020 issued by Peck Electric Co. to
NBT Bank, National Association

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

10.1

Business Loan Agreement, dated September 17, 2019, between
Peck Electric Co. and NBT Bank, National Association, as lender

By Reference

10-Q

November 18, 2019

10.2

Commercial Security Agreement, dated September 17 2019,
between Peck Electric Co. and NBT Bank, National Association

By Reference

10-Q

November 18, 2019

10.3

Commercial Guaranty, dated September 17, 2019

By Reference

10-Q

November 18, 2019

10.4(a)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Jeffrey Raymond.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(b)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Rebecca Irish.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(c)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Joseph Raymond.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016
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10.4(d)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Peter Underwood.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(e)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Philip Politziner.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(f)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Joseph Anastasio.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(g)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Richard C. Cook.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.4(h)

Letter Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Jensyn Capital, LLC.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.5

Investment Management Trust Agreement, dated March 2, 2016,
between Jensyn Acquisition Corp. and Continental Stock
Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.5(a)

Amendment No 1 to Investment Management Trust Agreement
dated as of March 6, 2018 between Jensyn Acquisition Corp and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.5(b)

Amendment No 2 to Investment Management Trust Agreement
dated as of March 2, 2018 between Jensyn Acquisition Corp and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

June 8, 2018

10.5(c)

Amendment No 3 to Investment Management Trust Agreement
dated as of March 2, 2018 between Jensyn Acquisition Corp and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

August 29, 2018

10.5(d)

Amendment No 4 to Investment Management Trust Agreement
dated as of March 2, 2018 between Jensyn Acquisition Corp and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

January 3, 2019

10.6

Stock Escrow Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, among Jensyn
Acquisition Corp., the Initial Stockholders identified therein and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.7

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 2, 2016, among
Jensyn Acquisition Corp. and the Investors identified therein.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016
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10.8

Form of Indemnity Agreement.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

10.9

Administrative Services Agreement, dated December 1, 2014, by
and between Jensyn Acquisition Corp. and Jensyn Integration
Services, LLC

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

10.10

Private Units Purchase Agreement, dated March 2, 2016,
between Jensyn Acquisition Corp. and Chardan Capital Markets,
LLC.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.11

Private Units Purchase Agreement, dated March 2, 2016,
between Jensyn Acquisition Corp. and Jensyn Capital, LLC.

By Reference

8-K

March 10, 2016

10.12

Letter Agreement, dated June 11, 2015, between Jensyn
Acquisition Corp. and Corinthian Partners, LLC.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

10.13

Form of Rights of First Refusal and Corporate Opportunities
Agreement.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

10.14

Joinder Agreement dated November 11, 2016 executed by
Stewart Martin.

By Reference

10-K

March 27, 2017

10.15

Form of Guaranty of Funding dated March 7, 2017 issued by
Insiders

By Reference

10-K

March 27, 2017

10.16

Letter Agreement dated as of January 31, 2018 among Jensyn
Acquisition Corp., Victor Ferreira and Karen Ferreira.

By Reference

10-K

March 29, 2018

10.17

Promissory Note dated March 6, 2018 issued to Jensyn Capital,
LLC

By Reference

10-Q

May 21, 2018

10.18

Promissory Note dated June 22, 2018 issued to Jensyn Capital,
LLC

By Reference

10-Q

August 20, 2018

10.19

Second Original Discount Promissory Note dated March 7, 2019
issued to Riverside Merchant Partners, LLC

By Reference

8-K

March 14, 2019

10.20

Voting Agreement dated March 7, 2019 among Riverside
Merchant Partners, LLC and the shareholders that are a
signatory thereto

By Reference

8-K

March 14, 2019

10.21

Voting Agreement, dated June 20, 2019, between Peck
Company Holdings Inc. and Jeffrey Peck

By Reference

10-K

April 14, 2020

10.22

Business Loan Agreement, dated January 13, 2020 between
Peck Electric Co. and NBT Bank, National Association

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

10.23

Commercial Guaranty, dated January 13, 2020, issued by Jeffrey
Peck to NBT Bank, National Association

By Reference

8-K

April 28, 2020

10.24

Lease Agreement, dated December 7, 2020, between Peck
Electric Co. and Unsworth Properties, LLC as agent for Meach,
LLC, 306 West Indian, LLC, Cooper Two, LLC, Trek
Communities, LLC, Masthead, LLC and Stephen and Shona
Unsworth

By Reference

8-K

December 10, 2020

14

Form of Code of Ethics.

By Reference

S-1

November 23, 2015

21

List of subsidiaries of iSun, Inc.

Herewith

10-K

March 15, 2021

23

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent

Herewith

10-K

March 15, 2021

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Herewith

10-K

March 15, 2021

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial and Accounting Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Herewith

10-K

March 15, 2021

32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Herewith

10-K

March 15, 2021

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
Not applicable
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